
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 
Riverbank House 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 
DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 
 

 

 

 

 
Date: 23 October 2020 

MEETING OF PLANS COMMITTEE 
 

Virtual Meeting via Zoom with Public Access via YouTube 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube - 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

Thursday 5 November 2020 at 9.30 am 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

Temporary measures during the Coronavirus Pandemic: 

Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in the public forum are advised that 
all Plans meetings taking place during the Covid-19 Pandemic will be filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the YouTube channel - https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 

To: Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, D McGeough, P Watson 
and R Wiseman 

 
Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the Meeting 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

  

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies of absence from the meeting. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 9) 

 To receive the Minutes from the meeting held on 1st October 2020 
 



 

 

3.   Declaration of Interest  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 
 
Elected Members of Devon County Council and Town/Parish Councils who have 
considered a planning application by virtue of their membership of that Council hold a 
personal interest and are deemed to have considered the application separately and 
the expressed views of that Council do not bind the Members concerned who 
consider the application afresh. 
 

4.   Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II  
 
 

5.   Urgent Matters  

 Information to be brought forward with the permission of the Chair. 
 

6.   Future Site Visits  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any future site visits. 
 

7.   Public Participation  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any prior requests to speak made by members 
of the public and to advise of the details of the Council’s public participation scheme. 
 

8.   Planning Applications  

 The information, recommendations and advice contained in the reports are correct as 
at the date of preparation which is more than ten days in advance of the Committee 
meeting.   Due to these time constraints any changes or necessary updates to the 
reports will be provided in writing or orally at the Committee meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

(a)   Application No 1/0542/2020/FUL (Pages 10 - 18) 

 Erection of four holiday lodges – Land at Grid Reference 252226 123009 Huntshaw, 
Devon 
 

(b)   Application No 1/0488/2020/FUL (Pages 19 - 28) 

 Outline application for the erection of 1 no dwelling with all matters reserved – Land 
adjoining Sunny View, Milton Damerel, Holsworthy, Devon, EX22 7DH 
 

(c)   Application No 1/0566/2020/FUL (Pages 29 - 39) 

 Demolition and replacement of dwelling (resubmission of 1/0464/2020/FUL) – Ithaca, 
Torridge Road, Appledore, Bideford, Devon, EX39 1SQ 
 



 

 

9.   Appeal Decisions Summary (Pages 40 - 51) 

 Appeal Decision Summary and Reports of Planning Inspectorate 
 
Summary 
 
Application No. 1/0767/2019/FUL – High Bullen Garage 
Application No. 1/0770/2019/OUTM – Land to the East of Galway, Stibb Cross 
Application No. 1/0609/2019/CPL – Highford Farm, Higher Clovelly 
 
Appeal Decision 
 
 

10.   Costs on Appeals (Pages 52 - 53) 

 Application No. 1/0609/2019/CPL – Highford Farm, Higher Clovelly, Bideford 
 

11.   Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications (Page 54) 

12.   Planning Decisions (Pages 55 - 65) 

 List of Delegated Planning Decisions, Consultee Abbreviations and Application Types 
enclosed 18.09.2020 to 22.10.2020. 
 
 

13.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move:- 
 
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

14.   Part II - Closed Session  

 There are no Part II items. 
 

The background papers are considered to comprise the following documents: 
 

- The individual planning application file (reference number quoted in each case) 
- North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted October 2018) 
- Current Government guidance contained in Circulars, the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and Ministerial Statements 
- Any other documents specifically referred to in the report. 

 
All background papers referred to are available for examination during normal office hours. 

 



 

 

NOTE TO MEMBERS 
 
All letters of representations are readily available for inspection on the files or through the 
website and public access.  If any Member requires assistance in using this facility, please 
contact the Development Enabling Manager directly. 
 
Members of the Committee only will receive hard copies of representations received. 

 

 
 

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey 
 

 
For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact: 
 
Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711 
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk 
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning 

 

 
 

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


1 
 

 
 

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Virtual Meeting via Zoom with Public Access via YouTube 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 
Thursday, 1 October 2020 - 9.30 am 

 
PRESENT Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
 Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 

 
 Councillors R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, 

D McGeough, P Watson and R Wiseman 
 
 

ALSO PRESENT S Harrington 
D Hunter 

- Development Manager 
- Solicitor (North Devon Council) 

 J Jackson - Development Management Team Leader 
 T Blackmore - Principal Planner 
 S Cawsey - Democratic Services Officer 

 
 

             APOLOGIES 
 
            There were no apologies for absence. 

 

  
48.    MINUTES  

 
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Wiseman  
and – 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the Minutes of the meetings held on 3 September 2020 and the Special 
meeting held on 17 September 2020 be agreed and signed as a correct record. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie    

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
 

 
(Vote: For - Unanimous) 
 
Councillor Craigie was not present when the vote was taken. 
 

49.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair reminded Members to declare their interests when the relevant item was 
up for discussion.  Declarations of interest were made as indicated below and in 
accordance with the previously agreed arrangements for “dual-hatted” Members. 
 

50.    AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II  
 
That the Agenda as circulated be agreed. 
 

51.    URGENT MATTERS  
 
There were no urgent matters brought forward. 
 

52.    PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
The Chair advised the Committee and members of the public of the details in 
respect of the Council’s public participation scheme.  
 

53.    PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
(a)   Application No. 1/0496/2020/FUL 

 
 The following Councillors had attended the virtual site visit: 

 
Councillors: C Leather, R Lock, M Brown, R Boughton, P Watson and  
R Wiseman 
 
 
Application No. 1/0496/2020/FUL  -  Erection of two eco-treehouses 
(resubmission of 1/0918/2018/FUL for erection of 3no. treehouses) 
(affecting a public right of way)  -  Watermead, Hartland, Bideford 
 
Interests:   None 
 
Officer recommendation:   Grant 
 
 
The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 
the Ward Member, Councillor Dart, for the following reasons: 
 
“Due to the level of local interest, the site’s location in the 
countryside, the vehicular and pedestrian access to the site, the 
potential for precedent within the AONB and the need to consider the 
level of economic benefit associated with the proposal”. 

Page 6



3 
 

 
 

 
The Development Management Team Leader presented the report 
and informed Members of the main planning considerations. 
 
Following representations made by the public speakers, the 
Development Management Team Leader addressed a number of 
points/issues raised by the objectors.  
 
During the debate it became evident that Members were supportive 
of the proposal, commenting that it is a well thought out scheme, 
sympathetic to the surroundings with minimal impact on the AONB 
and Heritage Coast.    
 
Councillor Lock enquired as to whether an additional condition could 
be imposed, namely that the public footpath remains open at all times 
even during construction. The Development Management Team 
Leader advised that, if agreed by Members, this could be included as 
an informative on the decision notice. 
 
The Committee noted the support given to this application from both 
statutory consultees and members of the public. 
 
To ensure the tree houses are not sold off separately, Councillor 
Christie asked if a condition could be imposed.  The advice given by 
the Development Management Team Leader and Solicitor was that 
the tree houses could be tied to the existing dwelling and holiday lets 
by way of a S106 Legal Agreement.  However, this would require a 
planning reason.    
 
Planning advice was given by the Development Manager who 
suggested that one planning reason would be to maintain the viability 
of the business.  Members also suggested that another reason would 
be to maintain the viability of the business and to protect the 
character and tranquillity of the area in accordance with Policies 
ST09 and DM18. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor Watson 
that the application be approved subject to the imposition of a S106 
Legal Agreement to tie the tree houses to the existing dwelling and 
holiday lets for the reasons stated above. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Page 7



4 
 

 
 

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
(Vote:  For – Unanimous) 
 
 
Mr Sam Dewar, Agent, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application 
Mr M Beaton, Applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application 
Mr J Denness addressed the Committee objecting to the application 
Mr C Shand addressed the Committee objecting to the application 
Councillors A Dart and S Harding, Ward Members addressed the 
Committee 
 
 

(b)   Application No. 1/0502/2020/FUL 
 

 Application No. 1/0502/2020/FUL  -  Replacement of conservatory 
with flat roof extension, formation of first floor extension, and lean-to  
-  24 Bassetts Close, Northam, Bideford 
 
Interests:  None 
 
Officer recommendation:  Grant 
 
The planning application had been referred to Plans Committee as 
the applicant is a staff member at Torridge District Council. 
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented the report and informed 
Members of the main planning considerations. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Lock, seconded by Councillor Watson 
that the application be approved. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
(Vote:  For – Unanimous) 

Page 8



5 
 

 
 

 
 

54.    APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY  
 
There were no Appeal Decisions. 
 

55.    COSTS ON APPEALS  
 
There were no Costs on Appeals. 
 

56.    DELEGATED DECISIONS - AGMB APPLICATIONS  
 
The Committee noted the Delegated Decisions. 
 

57.    PLANNING DECISIONS  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Planning decisions for the period 21 August 2020 to 17 September 2020 
be noted. 
 

 
 
The meeting commenced at 9.30am and closed at 10.50am. 
 
 
Chair:  Date:  
 
 

Page 9



 
Committee Report – 5th November 2020 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
  

Application Number: 1/0542/2020/FUL 

Registration date: 16 July 2020 

Expiry date:  10 September 2020 

Applicant:  Mr Tony Newcombe  

Agent:  Sherry Consultants 

Case Officer:  Kristian Evely 

Site Address:  Land at Grid Reference 252226 123009,  
Huntshaw,  
Devon, 
 
  
 

Proposal:  Erection of four holiday lodges 

Recommendation: Refuse 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 8a



 
Reason for referral: 

 
This application has been called into planning committee by Cllr Rosemary Lock. The reason being, 
to enable the plans committee to consider if this is sustainable tourism under policy ST13 of the 
NDTLP, and conforms with policies DM15, DM16 and DM18. 
 
Relevant History: 

 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

   
1/1175/2019/AGR New Lake for agricultural water 

supply 
NPW 24.12.2019 

     

 
Site Description & Proposal 

 
Site Description: 
 
This site comprises of a commercial equestrian enterprise (between 15 -30 horses stabled at any one 
time), paddock, and an area of community woodland. The site is in an isolated location to the west of 
Huntshaw Cross. Access is gained from the highway to the south, which then leads through forestry 
tracks into the paddock where the proposal is planned. The land slopes from south to north and is 
screened by the existing woodland. Distant views of the site are available from the valley to the north.  
 
Proposed Development: 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of four holiday lodges. The lodges 
would be distanced from the equestrian business by 400 metres and are situated in a paddock on the 
edge of woodland. The lodges would be situated at the highest point on the land to the east. A new 
access track would link with existing forestry tracks. The applicant claims the existing forestry tracks 
would not need upgrading; however, these claims seem unrealistic following the Officer site visit and it 
is anticipated improvements and some resurfacing would be necessary (this is acknowledged in the 
business plan).  
 
The proposed lodges would have a log cabin appearance, with 4 bedrooms, a kitchen diner, 
bathrooms and balconies. The cabins would measure approximately 9.5 metres x 13 metres, with a 
height of 6.5 metres, and would be constructed from timber log walls, with a sheet metal roof.  
 
A package treatment plant is included for the removal of foul sewage. 
 
Consultee representations: 

 
Huntshaw Parish/Town Council:  
As long as Foxdown Woods remain accessible to the public and the noted points regarding Trees and 
Hedges along with foul water drainage are addressed as required then there are no apparent 
reasons for the Parish Council to oppose this application. 
 
On the application form 'section 10 Trees and Hedges' in answer to the question: 
' Are there trees or hedges on land adjacent to the proposed development site that could influence the 
development or might be important as part of the local landscape character?' The applicant has 
answered 'No'. 
 
Yet the site adjoins both Foxdown woods and Huntshaw Equine Forest. This suggests that the correct 
answer to this question should be 'Yes'. 

Page 11



The Environmental protection consultee comment highlights the need for clarification regarding foul 
water drainage proposals and points out that the predicted daily flow rates appear to have been 
underestimated. 
Their comments state: 
 
1) If a drainage field is to be used for the foul discharge, percolation tests will be required for review 
by the Environmental Protection Team in order to assess the suitability of the ground. Additionally, the 
calculated drainage field area and site plan will be required. 
 
2) The applicant should review this calculation and ensure the treatment plant has sufficient capacity 
to accommodate the potential maximum loading. 
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the proposed development is to be served by a sewage treatment 
plant. The completed FDA assessment form indicates that foul waste will be discharged to both a 
watercourse and drainage field. The intended method of disposal is unclear from the site plan. 
DEFRA's General Binding Rules state that a watercourse must have a continual annual flow. If foul 
waste is intended to be discharged to a watercourse, the applicant will need to demonstrate that it 
accords with the General Binding Rules. If a drainage field is to be used for the foul discharge, 
percolation tests will be required for review by the Environmental Protection Team in order to assess 
the suitability of the ground. Additionally, the calculated drainage field area and site plan will be 
required. 
 
Furthermore, given the number of bedrooms and potential number of persons that can be 
accommodated, the predicted daily flow appears to be underestimated. In accordance with the British 
Flows and Loads Code of Practice, the proposed development is likely to be the equivalent of a 
'Serviced Static Caravan' at 150 litres per day per person resulting in up to 1200 litres per day on full 
occupancy per lodge or alternatively, a 'Holiday Camp Chalet Resident' at 227 litres per day per 
person resulting in up to 1816 litres per day on full occupancy per lodge. Having regard for the fact 
there are four proposed lodges, the predicted daily flow will exceed the 3840 litres reported. The 
applicant should review this calculation and ensure the treatment plant has sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the potential maximum loading.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
I am satisfied that there is acceptable visibility at the site access. 
 
Although the route past the access is subject to the National Speed Limit, realistically, 'actual' speeds 
have been observed as more akin to a 30mph limit. Sight lines of 43 metres are achievable in either 
direction. 
 
The carriageway between the proposed site access and Huntshaw Cross is capable of carrying the 
additional traffic movements generated to the site, although I accept that some of the holiday traffic 
movements may travel to and from the site to the west. 
 
Adequate parking and turning is achievable within the curtilage of the site. 
 
As a result, I raise no highway objections.  
 
Representations: 

 
Number of neighbours consulted:  0  Number of letters of support:  1 
Number of representations received:  1 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
One letter of support has been received 
 
 

Page 12



 
 
 
Policy Context: 

 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST13 (Sustainable Tourism); 
ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST03 
(Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM01 
(Amenity Considerations); DM04 (Design Principles); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM05 (Highways); 
DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM16 (Equine 
Development); DM15 (Farm Diversification); DM18 (Tourism Accommodation);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
Planning Considerations 

 
The main considerations with this application are: 
- Principle of Development 
- Character and Appearance  
- Residential Amenity 
- Biodiversity 
- Local Economy 
- Highways 
- Drainage 
- Other Matters 
- Conclusion 
 

1. Principle of Development  
 

1.1. This site is within the countryside and therefore Policy ST07 of the North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) is relevant. Policy ST07 of the NDTLP sets out the spatial 
development strategy for northern Devon's rural area, and clarifies that in the countryside, 
beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will be limited to that 
which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and 
development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location.   

 
1.2. Policy ST13 is also relevant, which sets out the overarching approach to tourism 

development within the district and states 'High quality tourism development that promotes 
a year-round industry will be supported.  Tourism growth should be sustainable and should 
not damage the natural or historic assets of northern Devon.' 

 
1.3. Policy ST07 and ST13 should be read in conjunction with policy DM18, which relates 

specifically to Tourism Accommodation. Policy DM18 of the NDTLP sets out the local 
planning policy context in relation to the provision of tourism accommodation.  Part 2 of the 
policy relates to development in the countryside, and notes: 

 
a. Outside the Sub-regional, Strategic, Main and Local Centres, the development of new 

and the expansion or rationalisation of existing tourism accommodation will be 
supported where it: 

 
(a) is related directly to and compatible in scale with an existing tourism, visitor or 

leisure attraction; or 

Page 13



(b) reuses or converts existing buildings; or 
(c) improves facilities for or diversifies the range or improves the quality of 

existing tourism accommodation; 
 

1.4. In this case the proposal is not considered to re-use or convert an existing building, and 
nor does it improve the quality of existing tourism on site (as there is none). Therefore, the 
question is, does the proposal comply with DM18 (2)(a)? 

 
1.5. This proposal is 400 metres from the existing equestrian business, and out of sight and 

sound. Even if a commercial stables specialising in the training of race horses could be 
considered a leisure attraction in accordance with DM18 (2)(a) (which the planning officer 
does not consider it can be), this proposal is not directly related to this business due to the 
significant distance between them. In addition, due to the access it would be possible to 
stay in this location as a complete separate entity with no interaction the equestrian 
business. 

 
1.6. Policy DM18 (d) also requires the scale of the proposal to be appropriate to the size of the 

existing settlement or attraction. In this case the proposal is for four large units of 
accommodation, however, there is no existing tourism business or attraction on site, and 
the site is in the countryside. Therefore, the scale can also be considered inappropriate. 
This proposal is supported by a business plan, however, there is no solid evidence that the 
scheme would be viable, especially when considering the site offers little in terms of 
facilities, the initial costs are high, and there is substantial economic uncertainty. Part of 
the business plan acknowledges that this business's unique selling point is its isolation, 
however, the planning policy is there to ensure undeveloped locations remain unspoilt, 
which is a characteristic of this landscape (see section 2). Overall, the scale of this scheme 
is considered inappropriate.  

 
1.7. Overall, your planning officer considers that due to the proposals isolated location, the 

proposal cannot be related any tourism, visitor or leisure attraction. As such the proposal is 
contrary to DM18 of the NDTLP.  

 
1.8. The agent notes that this application should be considered as 'Farm Diversification' under 

policy DM15, however, this proposal is not considered to be related to a farm or agriculture 
and DM15 is thus irrelevant. In particular, the site consists of an area of woodland (the 
land was changed into 'community woodland' in 2005 [reference 1/1417/2005/FUL]). 
Forestry is not considered to fall within the definition of agriculture, unless used ancillary to 
an agricultural activity which this woodland is not, and there are no agricultural activities on 
site. The only buildings on this holding are 400 metres away, and include a stable, store 
and horse walking facility as part of the commercial stable / equine use. There is no farm 
at the stables, and the applicant lives away from site. The wider site therefore comprises of 
forestry and equestrian land. 

 
1.9. Section 336 of the Town and Country Planning Act defines agriculture as: 

 
““agriculture” includes horticulture, fruit growing, seed growing, dairy farming, the breeding 
and keeping of livestock (including any creature kept for the production of food, wool, skins 
or fur, or for the purpose of its use in the farming of land), the use of land as grazing land, 
meadow land, osier land, market gardens and nursery grounds, and the use of land for 
woodlands where that use is ancillary to the farming of land for other agricultural purposes, 
and “agricultural” shall be construed accordingly;” 

 
1.10. Even if this proposal is considered to be 'farm diversification', the proposal would not 

comply with DM15 (c), which requires any new building to be sited close to existing 
buildings. This proposal is distanced from the applicant's commercial equestrian business 
and the associated buildings.  

 

Page 14



1.11. Policy DM16 relates to equine development. This policy does not facilitate tourism 
accommodation which should be dealt with by DM18. Nonetheless, this proposal is not 
well linked to the equestrian business, or the associated buildings and is therefore contrary 
to DM16 (a). 

 
 

1.12. Overall, the planning officer has considered the business plan, planning and supporting 
statements, and considers that this proposal does not relate to any existing tourism, visitor 
or leisure facility, nor does it comply with the farm diversification or equestrian policies. 
Therefore, the proposal is not acceptable in principle.  

 
 

2. Character and Appearance 
 

2.1. Policy ST04 of the NDTLP encourages improved design quality, and notes: development 
will achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation of 
successful, vibrant places. Designs will be based on a clear process that analyses and 
responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding area, 
taking full account of the principles of design found in Policy DM04.  

 
2.2. Policy DM04 then proceeds to detail 14 design principles which should be taken into 

consideration within any new development. The crux of DM04 requires new developments 
to be of high-quality design, including being well related to their surroundings, be of an 
appropriate scale, include quality materials, and to be sympathetic to the character and 
appearance of the local area.  

 
2.3. Policy DM08A is also relevant which relates to landscape impacts and seeks to ensure 

that proposals do not cause undue landscape harm. 
 

2.4. This application proposes four large holiday homes. The immediate impact on the 
character and appearance of the area will be limited, as public views of the site are 
restricted by woodland, however, there will be long distance views of the proposal which 
will have the potential to cause landscape harm. This site falls within Landscape Character 
Type 1F, Farmed Lowland Moorland and Culm Grassland, which includes the following 
special qualities: 

 
- Distinctive Culm grassland habitats and associated birdlife. 
- Traditional management regimes (including grazing by North Devon 

Reds). 
- Small field patterns enclosed by thick Devon banks and surrounded by 

open grazing land. 
- Isolated farms and farmsteads. 
- High levels of tranquillity and remoteness. 

 
2.5. In the opinion of the planning officer, this proposal does have the potential to cause harm 

to the tranquillity and remoteness of the area by siting four large structures away from any 
other building, on a prominent hillside location. Therefore, the proposal is contrary to 
DM08A 

 
2.6. It is worth noting that the business plan proposes signage on the main road and site 

entrance. Whilst this is not subject to this application and would require separate consent, 
it would add further clutter to this area resulting in further harm to the rural character.  

 
 

3. Residential Amenity 
 

Page 15



3.1. Policy DM01 of the NDTLP confirms that development will be supported where it would not 
significantly harm the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or uses, or result in harm to the 
future occupiers of the development from existing or allocated uses. 

 
3.2. This proposal is well distanced from any neighbouring dwelling and as a result it is 

considered that the proposal does not result in any residential amenity concerns and 
accords with DM01 of the NDTLP. 

 
 

4. Biodiversity 
 

4.1. Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development 
on wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act 2006, The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
(Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is also supported by Policy DM08 of the NDTLP. In 
addition, Policy ST14 seeks to deliver biodiversity enhancement through development. 

 
4.2. The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) produced by 

Orbis Ecology.   
 

4.3. The PEA identifies that the proposal would be acceptable, subject to conditions restricting 
light spill and bat boxes being included on each holiday lodge. If members are minded to 
approve this application, a condition will be required to ensure the proposal is carried out in 
accordance with the PEA. In addition, members may wish to consider a condition 
restricting lighting along the entrance track/entrance (the business plan references a light 
tunnel), which will help avoid light pollution and harm to foraging bats. Subject to condition, 
the proposal is considered to accords with policies DM08 and ST14 of the NDTLP. 

 
 

5. Highways 
 

5.1. Policies ST10 and DM05 of the NDTLP seek, among other things, to ensure that 
development does not adversely affect the local or strategic highway network and that 
vehicular accesses are safe and well designed.  In addition, DM06 of the NDTLP seeks to 
ensure that appropriate parking provision is delivered as part of development. 

 
5.2. The Highways Authority has been consulted and notes no objection. 

 
5.3. This proposal is likely to result in the increased use of a poor junction at Huntshaw Cross, 

however, DCC Highways have not objected and therefore the Planning Officer does not 
consider it would be possible to defend a refusal reason on this basis. Visibility and parking 
are acceptable; however, no information has been provided regarding the improvements to 
the internal roads. The planning officer did query this with the agent, however, the agent 
claimed improvements would not be necessary as the existing forestry roads are 
acceptable (despite it being in the business plans costings). If members are minded to 
approve the application, a condition would be advisable either clarifying that this 
application does not permit improvements to the forestry tracks, or seeking further details 
of improvements.  

 
5.4. Subject to condition, it is considered the proposal complied with ST10, DM05 and DM06 of 

the NDTLP, along with national policies within the NPPF. 
 
 

6. Drainage 
 

6.1. Policy ST03 of the NDTLP notes that development should 'adopt effective water 
management including Sustainable Drainages Systems, water quality improvements, 

Page 16



water efficiency measures and the use of rainwater'. In addition, policy DM04 notes 
development should provide effective water management including Sustainable Drainage 
Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse of rainwater.  

 
6.2. The NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance provide further advice on foul drainage, with a 

hierarchal approach being used. The PPG notes new development should aim to 
discharge foul water into the public sewer; however, if this is not possible then a package 
treatment plant may be used. It proceeds to note if a package treatment plant is not 
possible to use, then a septic tank will be considered. Justification for the use of alterative 
drainage systems other than mains drainage is required. 

 
6.3. This application proposes to discharge foul sewage to an existing watercourse. The 

Council’s Environmental Protection Team had sought further information on the treatment 
plant discharging to the stream, however, following the officer site visit and conversations 
with the agent, it is considered the stream is not a dry ditch and is likely to have flow 
except in period of drought. This is considered to be acceptable in accordance with the 
EA's general binding rules, and overall the treatment plant is considered acceptable.  

 
6.4. Surface water will be discharged into a SUDS pond before entering the watercourse, which 

is and is adequate for the site.  
 
 

7. Other matters 
 

7.1. The applicants show an 'agricultural pond (to be constructed)' on the site plan. This does 
not form part of this application, and the Council have not advised the applicant that this is 
permitted development contrary to the applicants claims. In the opinion of your planning 
officer, this needs full planning permission as the paddock is not considered to be in an 
agricultural use. 

 
 

8. Conclusion 
 

8.1. The principle of residential holiday accommodation is considered to be unjustified in this 
countryside location. This is due to the proposal being isolated from any existing tourism, 
visitor or leisure facility which is required by DM18. In addition, this proposal is not 
considered to amount to farm diversification as the land is equestrian/forestry land, and the 
proposal is not well linked to any existing business.  

 
8.2. In addition to 8.1, this proposal is deemed to result in landscape harm by developing this 

remote and tranquil site, and the approval of this application may result in the unfortunate 
precedent of allowing unjustified holiday homes in prominent, remote locations contrary to 
ST07.  

 
8.3.  Overall, the proposal is considered contrary to local policies ST07, DM08A, DM15, DM16 

and DM18 and it is recommended that planning permission is refused. 
 
Human rights 

 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Recommendation 

 
REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 
 1         The principle of residential holiday accommodation is unjustified for this countryside location 

due to the proposal being isolated from any existing tourism, visitor or leisure facility as 

Page 17



required by Policy DM18 of the North Devon & Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP). In addition, the 
proposal is not considered to amount to farm diversification as the land is equestrian/forestry 
land, and the proposal is not well linked to any existing business. In addition, the proposal 
results in landscape harm by creating building clutter on this remote and tranquil site, contrary 
to the aims of Policy ST07. As a result, the proposal is considered contrary to policies ST07, 
DM08A, DM15, DM16 and DM18 of the NDTLP. 

 
Plans Schedule 

 
Reference Received 

  

01  13.07.2020 
   

02  13.07.2020 
   

03  13.07.2020 
   

04  13.07.2020 
   

05  13.07.2020 
   

06  13.07.2020 
   

07  13.07.2020 
   

S20-07-03A  16.07.2020 
   

S20-07-04A  16.07.2020 
   

S20-070-02A  16.07.2020 
   

S20/07-01  29.06.2020 
  

 
 Statement of Engagement 

 
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with this application, the 
Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive manner. We have 
made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the Development Plan, 
Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written guidance, as well as 
offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant has been given every 
opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  In such ways the 
Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to problems arising in 
relation to the planning application. 
            
The applicant entered into pre-application discussions where key issues were identified. The 
documents submitted have failed to address the issues raised at a pre-application stage therefore no 
further discussion was deemed necessary at application stage, as these issues has not been 
adequately addressed. 
 

Page 18



 
Committee Report – 5 November 2020 

 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0488/2020/OUT 

Registration date: 6 August 2020 

Expiry date:  1 October 2020 

Applicant:  Mr P Parker  

Agent:  Mr AW Hodder 

Case Officer:  James Jackson 

Site Address:  Land Adjoining Sunny View,  
Milton Damerel,  
Holsworthy, 
Devon, 
EX22 7DH,   
 

Proposal:  Outline application for the erection of 1 no 
dwelling with all matters reserved 

Recommendation: Refuse 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8b



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
Cllr James has called the application to Plans Committee if the officer is minded to recommend 
refusal.  Cllr James notes that the site is an infill site between a barn conversion and an existing 
property known as Sunnyview, and that whilst the site is in open countryside it is part of a larger 
settlement that is within easy walking distance to the village hall and shop. 

Relevant History: 
 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

   
1/0374/1975 BUNGALOW AND GARAGE 

O.S.PT.9364, CROSSWAYS 
MILTON DAMEREL 

PER 15.05.1975 

       
1/0983/2019/FUL Change of use of redundant 

rural buildings to two residential 
dwellings 

PER 31.01.2020 

   

 
Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description 

The application relates to a parcel of agricultural land within the countryside. 

The site comprises a relatively flat grassed paddock which formerly accommodated a dilapidated 
agricultural barn.  The barn has since been almost entirely removed from the site, with only the 
concrete slab remaining.  

The eastern boundary of the site, fronting onto the public highway, is formed from a small Devon 
hedgebank with mature fruit trees behind the hedgebank, within the site. 

The southern site boundary is currently open, whilst the northern boundary is formed from a retaining 
wall and scrubby vegetation.  The western boundary is formed from a few mature trees and other low 
lying vegetation.  An agricultural field access is also present at the western boundary, which provides 
access to the agricultural field to the west. 

The site is accessed at its southernmost point via an existing vehicular access that is shared with the 
two redundant agricultural buildings to the south. 

To the north of the site is an existing residential dwelling and its associated curtilage; to the east is the 
public highway; to the south are two redundant agricultural buildings and associated land that benefit 
from planning permission for conversion to two residential dwellings (reference 1/0983/2019/FUL). 

The site lies within Strawberry Bank, a hamlet comprising approximately 20 detached dwellings 
principally arranged around a crossroads of two rural public highways. Milton Damerel Parish Hall is 
located approximately 250m north of the hamlet; however no services, facilities or community uses 
such as shops or schools are located within Strawberry Bank itself.  It is also noted that an existing 
convenience shop (Lizzie’s Larder / Blackberry Farm Shop) is located approximately 1 mile to the 
north west, within close proximity to the southern boundary of the Venn Green.  

Page 20



The locality is characterised by the small settlements of Strawberry Bank, Milton Town and Venn 
Green, as well as agricultural uses which dominate this part of the countryside. 

The town of Holsworthy is located approximately 6 miles to the south west of the site. 

Proposed Development 

The application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of 1 dwelling with all matters 
reserved.   

An indicative site plan has been submitted and shows a single dwelling sited within the centre of the 
site.  The existing vehicular access is shown as being utilised, noting however that access is a 
reserved matter for future consideration.  Foul water would be managed via a new package treatment 
plant, with surface water to be discharged to a soakaway. 

Consultee representations: 
 
Milton Damerel Parish/Town Council:  
Thank you for consulting Milton Damerel Parish Council regarding this development. 
Parish Councillors were consulted by email, no issues were raised and the application is supported by 
6 Councillors with one abstention. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Standing Advice 
  
Conservation Officer:  
No response. 
 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  5  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  0 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
None received 
 
Policy Context: 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST21 (Managing the Delivery 
of Housing); MIL (Milton Damerel and Venn Green Spatial Strategy); ST04 (Improving the Quality of 
Development); DM04 (Design Principles); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM01 
(Amenity Considerations); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental 
Assets); ST10 (Transport Strategy); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM02 
(Environmental Protection);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
Planning Considerations 
 
The main considerations with this application are: 

Page 21



- Principle of Development 
- Character and Appearance  
- Residential Amenity 
- Biodiversity 
- Highways 
- Foul and Surface Water Drainage 

 
1. Principle of Development  

 
It is considered that the site is located within the open countryside in planning terms, by reason that it 
does not satisfy the criteria set out within the adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-
2031 (NDTLP) to qualify as a Local Centre, Village or Rural Settlement.   

The NDTLP notes that the area of Milton Damerel includes the hamlet of Strawberry Bank, whilst also 
noting the limited facilities that exist in Milton Town to the west and Venn Green to the north west.  
Policy MIL of the NDTLP sets out the spatial strategy for Milton Damerel and Veen Green and the 
proposals maps accompanying the Local Plan establishes development boundaries relating to both 
settlements.  Policy MIL states, inter alia, that a development boundary for Milton Town and Venn 
Green is defined on Policies Maps 57 and 58, outside of which the principle of residential 
development is only supported on an exceptional basis.  It is clear from this policy direction that the 
principle of open market residential development within Strawberry Bank is not considered 
acceptable. 

In addition, the NDTLP glossary defines a rural settlement as ‘a small, closely grouped cluster of 
housing that contains [my emphasis] at least one identified local service or community facility.  Given 
the location of the Parish Hall approximately 250m distant to the north, it is considered that the hamlet 
does not meet this definition and cannot therefore be considered as a rural settlement. 

Taking account of the above, it is clear that the hamlet of Strawberry Bank is not located within the 
development boundary of either Milton Town or Venn Green and does not quality as a rural 
settlement.  As such, it is concluded that the site is located within the countryside. 

Policy ST07 of the NDTLP sets out the spatial development strategy for northern Devon’s rural area, 
and clarifies that in the countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, 
development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural 
building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location.   

The proposed open market residential dwelling would not satisfy any of the criteria set out at Policy 
ST07, with the result that the principle of development is considered to be unacceptable. 

Notwithstanding, as a result of the Burwood Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the Council 
accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (5YHLS); 
with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 4.23 years across Northern Devon. By virtue of 
not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS, there is a need to apply the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development (the 'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration in 
determining planning applications for housing. 

Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 

Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should grant planning 
permission unless: 

Page 22



i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance (National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear 
reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 

For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to be 
automatically out of date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a policy of the 
development plan is out of date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their substance and 
considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of 
the policies are generally considered to be out of date for the application of the Presumption. 

The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF, however, as this proposal 
does not harm a 'protected area', the decision taker in this case only needs to consider the NPPF's 
requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits; the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), NPPF). 

In addition to the 'tilted balance', some weight can be given to policy ST21 of the NDTLP which 
relates to managing the delivery of housing. In particular, ST21(2) is relevant, which supports 
development outside of settlement limits (where completions are below 90% of the annual 
requirement). The Burwood Appeal decision determined that ST21(2) is currently engaged, which 
requires any proposal to be in a location, of a scale, and nature commensurate with the deficit in 
required housing (criterion a), demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing 
the deficit in housing supply (criterion b), be broadly consistent with the plan’s spatial strategy/vision 
along with the relevant settlement vision and development strategy (criterion c), and be compliant with 
the remaining plan where relevant (criterion d). Dealing with each of these points in turn:  

(a) The deficit of housing within Northern Devon is clearly substantial as a 5YHLS supply cannot 
be proven. The proposal for a single dwelling is modest in scale, however, combined with 
other development, can assist in the contribution towards a 5YHLS. The proposal is 
considered to accord with (a).  

  
(b) The application is made in outline, with the result that reserved matters approval would need 

to be obtained and any pre-commencement conditions would need to be discharged, prior to 
commencement on site.  Once on site, the development could be built out relatively quickly, 
given the modest scale of the development proposed.  However, given that the application is 
made in outline, with all matters reserved for future consideration, it is unlikely that the 
development would come forward in a timely manner.  The proposal is not considered to 
accord with (b). 
 

(c) As discussed earlier, the site is located within the countryside.  The provision of open market 
residential development in this location would be contrary to the aims of the NDTLP’s spatial 
development strategy for northern Devon’s rural area, which seeks to guide such development 
towards established settlements with development boundaries that can offer some or all of the 
services and facilities required to support  a residential use.  This principle is established by 
Policy ST07 which adopts a hierarchical approach in recognition of the scale of each 
settlement and the availability of the facilities and services that are available therein, noting 
that Local Centres will be the primary focus for development within the rural area, with villages 
also identified to accommodate more modest levels of open market residential development in 
accordance with local spatial strategies.   

Page 23



Turning to the local spatial strategy for Milton Damerel / Venn Green; Policy MIL establishes 
that the principle of residential development outside the development boundaries of Milton 
Town and Venn Green will only be supported on an exceptional basis.  The strategy for these 
two settlements is to locate open market and affordable housing within the development 
boundaries; to deliver open space / play space into a future development scheme, promote 
the retention of landscape character, and support the retention of village services and 
communities to meet the needs of local communities.   

The provision of open market residential development at the site would be prejudicial to the 
local spatial strategy insofar that it would be located outside the defined settlements.  It is 
however accepted that the provision of further residential development in the area could aid 
the retention of nearby services and facilities, i.e. the nearby convenience shop and parish 
hall, by having a positive impact on their viability.  This potential benefit is also referenced in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), which at paragraph 78 advises that ‘where 
there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may support services in a 
village nearby.’ 

However, the site is distant from the parish hall and local shop, and both are accessed via 
narrow Devon lanes that are unlit and have no footway.  Consequently, it is considered 
unlikely that the future occupiers of the site would access either facility on foot or via other 
means of sustainable transport; instead it is likely that these journeys would be made using 
private motor vehicles.  Moreover, it is noted that other services, such as primary and 
secondary schools, health facilities and leisure opportunities are located a significant distance 
from the site and would also be likely to be accessed using private motor vehicles, given their 
distance from the site and the lack of public transport options within Strawberry Bank.  This 
likely situation would be contrary to the aims of sustainability at both a national and local level 
and the need to limit the use of private motor transport to move towards a low carbon 
economy. 

Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to criterion (c). 

(d) The following sections of this report assess the proposal in the context of the other relevant 
NDTLP policies.   
 

Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal is contrary to Policies ST07, MIL and 
parts (b) and (c) of ST21.  The following sections of your officer’s report provide an assessment of the 
other material considerations pursuant to the application, followed by the planning balance to weigh 
the factors in support of and against the granting of planning permission, which will enable a 
conclusion to be made in relation to The Presumption and the tilted balance, in accordance with 
paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF. 

2. Character and Appearance  
 

Policies ST04 and DM04 of the NDTLP all have a strong design focus and establish the need for 
development to be appropriate in, and have respect for, its context and setting. In addition, Policy 
DM08A requires development to respect landscape character of both designated and undesignated 
landscapes and seascapes. 

Clearly the residential development of the site would change the character of the site to a significant 
degree, given the proposed change from an agricultural use to residential.   However, the proposed 
development would adjoin existing residential development to the north, whilst to the south are 
located two redundant agricultural buildings with full planning permission to be converted to two 

Page 24



dwellings.  Consequently, notwithstanding that all matters are reserved for future consideration, a 
well-designed scheme would ensure that a residential use in this location would not prejudice the rural 
character of the settlement or wider area.   

For the reasons above the proposal is considered to accord with policies ST04, DM04 and DM08A of 
the NDTLP.   

3. Residential Amenity 
 

Policy DM01 of the NDTLP confirms that development will be supported where it would not 
significantly harm the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or uses, or result in harm to the future 
occupiers of the development from existing or allocated uses.  Part (i) of Policy DM04 also includes a 
similar policy direction.  

It is considered that a well-designed scheme could ensure the adequate safeguarding of the 
amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings. 

It is noted that the proposal would result in the change of use of the site from agricultural to 
residential.  It would be necessary for the applicant to demonstrate that the future occupiers of the site 
would not be subject to any contamination from the current lawful use of the site; in this regard a 
suitably worded condition would ensure that this potential adverse impact could be effectively 
mitigated.  Similarly, conditions could be used to control construction times to ensure that 
neighbouring residents would not be unacceptably affected during the construction phase.  

It is noted that no objections have been received from any neighbouring residents or other interested 
parties. 

The applicant’s agent has clarified that the applicant owns the site and the agricultural buildings to the 
immediate south which have extant planning permission for conversion to two dwellings.  
Consequently, there are no concerns in respect of the potential use of the adjacent buildings.  

The proposal is considered to accord with Policy DM01 and part (i) of Policy DM04. 

4. Biodiversity 
 

Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is also 
supported by Policy DM08 of the NDTLP.  Policy ST14 of the NDTLP seeks to deliver biodiversity net 
gain where possible. 

The application is accompanied by a Wildlife Checklist which is considered to satisfy the legislative 
context set out above. 

Biodiversity net gain could be delivered via a suitably worded condition. 

It is concluded that the proposal accords with policies DM08 and ST14, as well as the other legislation 
referred to above. 

5. Highways 
 

Policies ST10 and DM05 of the NDTLP seek, inter alia, to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the local or strategic highway network and that vehicular accesses are safe and well 

Page 25



designed.  In addition, DM06 of the NDTLP seeks to ensure that appropriate parking provision is 
delivered as part of development.  ST10 and DM06 also seek to encourage the use of sustainable 
modes of transport and reduce reliance on the use of private motor vehicles. 

It is considered that the modest scale of development proposed would not have a material impact on 
the local or strategic highway network.  In addition, the site is located within close proximity to a 
junction of two highways with the result that vehicle speeds are likely to be low.  Further, the site is 
located within a cluster of development where there are numerous residential accesses onto the 
public highway; it is therefore likely that motorists would adjust their driving behaviour accordingly.  
Lastly, the proposed vehicle movements must be considered in the context of the lawful agricultural 
use of the site and the vehicle movements that could occur as a result of this lawful use. 

In addition, it is noted that the site is of sufficient scale to accommodate suitable on-site parking and 
turning provision. 

As discussed earlier, the location of the site remote from essential services and facilities lack of 
access to sustainable forms of transport would be likely to result in a reliance on private motor 
vehicles.  This would conflict with the aims of policies ST10 and DM06. 

Taking account of the above, it is concluded that the proposal accords with policy DM05; however, 
there is conflict with policies ST10 and DM06. 

6. Foul and Surface Water Drainage 
 

Policy DM02 of the NDTLP requires that development must not result in unacceptable impacts in 
relation to the pollution of surface or ground water, whilst Policy DM04 establishes that water 
management must be addressed by development.   

It is proposed that foul water would be discharged to a package treatment plant whilst surface water 
would be discharged to a soakaway.  It is noted that no percolation tests have been submitted to 
demonstrate that the proposed drainage arrangements are acceptable, however in this instance, 
given the modest scale of development and the outline form of the application with all matters 
reserved, it is considered that that this issue could be addressed via a suitably worded pre-
commencement condition. 

Taking account of the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy DM02 and DM04. 

7. Tilted Balance and Conclusion 
 

As discussed earlier, the site is located within the countryside, outside of any defined development 
boundary.  The principle of residential development in this location would ordinarily be unacceptable.  
However, as discussed earlier it is necessary to undertake a ‘tilted balance’ assessment as the Local 
Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a 5YHLS. 

The development plan policies referred to above are in broad conformity with the NPPF and therefore 
are not considered to be out of date. In particular, the overarching policy direction of the NDTLP to 
guide open market residential development towards settlements that offer a broad range of the 
services and facilities required to support a residential use is also evident in the NPPF and is a key 
strand of environmental sustainability. 

In terms of the matters that weigh in favour of the proposal; the single dwelling proposed would make 
a contribution, albeit modest, to the housing stock within the district at a time that the Local Planning 
Authority cannot demonstrate a 5YHLS.  The provision of housing must be given significant weight in 

Page 26



the consideration of the application.  In addition, the dwelling proposed could make a positive 
contribution to the viability of the nearby local shop and parish hall, as highlighted by paragraph 78 of 
the NPPF.  There would also be a modest benefit to a small scale developer and other tradespersons 
resulting from the construction period, as well as a further modest benefit from the payment of council 
tax.  Biodiversity net gain at the site would also be a modest benefit.  It is also noted that the Parish 
Council supports the proposal and no objections have been received from members of the public. 

Weighing against the application, the proposed development would be located in the countryside, 
remote from the majority of the services and facilities such as schools, health facilities and leisure 
facilities that are necessary to support a residential use.  Even the facilities within the immediate local 
area, these being the local shop and the parish hall, are likely to be accessed by private motor 
vehicles, given their distance from the site and the unsuitability of the local road network for 
pedestrians and lack of public transport options.   

In respect of the overall balancing exercise, whilst the positive aspects of the proposal are noted, it is 
considered that the site’s location remote from facilities and services, and the consequent need to 
access such facilities and services by private motor vehicle, is prejudicial to one of the central aims of 
the NDTLP; to guide open market residential development towards sustainable locations that offer a 
range of services and facilities to meet the needs of the future occupiers of the development.  
Following on from this, the proposal is also considered to conflict with environmental sustainability 
aims, which are a key pillar of the NPPF.  On this basis, it is considered that the adverse impacts of 
granting planning permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

8. Recommendation 
 

Taking account of all of the above, is therefore recommended that outline planning permission be 
refused.  

Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Recommendation 
 
REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 
 1        The proposed dwelling, by reason of its location in a hamlet without the day to day services 

and facilities needed to support an open market residential use and lack of access to 
sustainable transport options, would likely result in the reliance on private motor vehicles to 
access essential services and facilities.  This would prejudice the spatial development strategy 
for northern Devon's rural area and would be contrary to the aim of reducing unsustainable 
travel behaviour and private motor vehicle use. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies 
ST07, MIL, ST21, ST10 and DM06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 
and the guidance set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

     
  

 Location Plan PP/1 16.06.2020 
   

 Site Plan PP/2 06.08.2020 
  
Statement of Engagement 
 

Page 27



In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application which is likely to be considered favourably.  
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
            
The applicant entered into pre-application discussions where key issues were identified. The 
documents submitted have failed to address the issues raised at a pre-application stage therefore no 
further discussion was deemed necessary at application stage, as these issues have not been 
adequately addressed. 
 

Page 28



 
Committee Report – 5 November 2020 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number: 1/0566/2020/FUL 

Registration date: 17 July 2020 

Expiry date:  11 September 2020 

Applicant:  David and Lindsay Inwood  

Agent:  Mr. Adam Scott 

Case Officer:  Debbie Fuller 

Site Address:  Ithaca,  
Torridge Road,  
Appledore, 
Bideford, 
Devon,   
EX39 1SQ 

Proposal:  Demolition and replacement of dwelling 
(resubmission of 1/0464/2020/FUL) 

Recommendation: Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8c



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
Cllr. Ford has called the application to Plans Committee if the officer is minded to approve.  Cllr Ford’s 
reasons are that the proposed development is ‘not in keeping,’ is ‘over development’ and there is 
‘possible overlooking’ with regards to ‘Westbrook.’ 

Relevant History: 
 
Application No. Description Status Closed 

   

1/0314/2016/FUL Demolition of 2 dwellings and 
erection of 6 four storey 
houses. 

REF 15.06.2016 

     

1/0884/2016/FUL Demolition of 2 dwellings and 
erection for 6x 4 storey 
houses arranged in 3 blocks 
of 2 

PER 21.12.2016 

   

1/0464/2020/FUL Extension and alterations to 
dwelling 

NPW 23.06.2020 

   

 
Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description 
The application site is situated within ‘Appledore’ and comprises a detached dormer bungalow set 
above Torridge Road, which is characterised by a mixture of dwellings types including two storey 
properties and bungalows.  
 
The existing bungalow 'Ithaca' is elevated above Torridge Road by approximately 4.5 metres and is 
supported by a large retaining rendered wall. Its ridge runs parallel to the road, which is the general 
characteristic of development in this part of Appledore, although the adjacent three storey houses, 
located to the south east of the application building have dual pitched roofs with ridges running at right 
angles to the road. The ridge of these properties are approximately 1.7 metres above the ridge of the 
existing bungalow. 
 
The existing bungalow has access from the road via a flight of steps, with a flower bed and decking to 
the front, which wraps around the western side. Like adjacent properties, the garden at the rear rises 
steeply. A single storey garage is to the front, (north east corner) of the property. 
 
The site is approximately 50 metres from the Appledore Conservation Area. There are several Listed 
Buildings sited to the north east of the application site, but they are separated from view by the 
dwellings immediately fronting Torridge Road on the opposite side of the road. 
 
Proposed Development 
This application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of the existing dwelling 'Ithaca' and 
the erection of a two-storey dwelling. The description states 'resubmission of 1/0464/2020/FUL,' but 
this was an application for 'extensions and alterations' to the existing bungalow, which was withdrawn. 
 
The dwelling would be provided with three bedrooms on the ground floor with open plan lounge, 
dining area and kitchen and the fourth, main bedroom, on the first floor. A balcony would be provided 
on the first floor (north west side), (with timber louvres to screen and a post and wire balustrade), and 
a raised deck at the rear (south west), with 1.8-metre-high privacy screens on each side. New steps 
are proposed to the front and new timber steps (with post and wire balustrades) to a new entrance to 
the dwelling on the north west corner. 
 

Page 30



The proposed dwelling is of contemporary design with a flat roof, which is approximately 1.5 metres 
below the ridge of the neighbouring property 'High Tides' (south east), and approximately a metre 
below the ridge of 'Westbrook' (north east). Photovoltaic panels are to be added to the roof. 
 
The depth of the replacement dwelling is approximately seven metres, and approximately 13.5 metres 
in overall width, with the front part being 10 metres in width.  
 
External finishing materials would comprise white painted render and timber cladding for the walls, flat 
roof with single ply membrane and metal cladding, timber louvres, PPC Aluminium framed windows 
and glazed doors and a painted timber entrance door. Security lighting is proposed to the front and 
rear of the property. 
 
The proposed dwelling would be accessed via new steps. A two metre high fence ('above ground 
level'), is to be erected along the western boundary, and this does not require planning permission, as 
it is 'Permitted Development' as laid out in Article 3, Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A of The Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended). 
 
In terms of parking provision, the proposal does not change the existing parking arrangements of two 
spaces, (the garage and space for a car remains). The area between the front retaining wall and the 
road provides three parking spaces to serve the adjacent dwellings, and this area is not within the 
application boundary, (shown on plan drawing numbered 1141-04 A). 
 
Foul and surface water drainage would be connected to the main sewerage system. 
 
Consultee representations: 
 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
It was resolved to recommend that this application be approved. 
 
Conservation Officer:  
No response received.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
The Highway Authority has considered this application and has no objection.  
 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  8  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  3 Number of neutral representations: 1 
Number of objection letters:  3  

 
Three residents have made representations, with two objections from the same property (the second 
objection is with regards to the revised plans).  
 
There are objections from each property either side of the application site, and one general comment.  
 
The following issues have been raised: - 
 
- Overdevelopment of the site; 
- Proximity to the boundary; 
- Overlooking / invasion of privacy, (balcony to front and first floor decking to the private garden, and 
impact on upper floor west facing window of ‘High Tides’); 
- Not in keeping with the area / scale and size; 
- The two-storey blank wall, (plus 1.8 metre privacy screen) an overbearing impact; 
- Impact on the estuary view; 
- Conflicting comments in respect of the boundary/fence. 
- Concerns about structural retaining wall which protects parking spaces; 

Page 31



- Impact and timescale of the project - in terms of noise, overlooking and traffic/highways; 
 
Policy Context: 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
NOR (Northam Spatial Vision and Development Strategy); ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and 
Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST06 (Spatial Development 
Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and Main Centres); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); 
ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental 
Protection); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM07 (Historic 
Environment); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character).  
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA 
(Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities).  
 
Planning Considerations 
 
The main considerations with this application are: 
 
1. The principle of development 
2. Design and appearance 
3. Impact on designated heritage assets 
4. Residential amenity 
5. Access, Parking and Highway 
6. Structural integrity 
7. Ecology 
8. Sewerage and Drainage 
 
1. Principle of development 
The application site is located within the settlement of Appledore which is identified as a 'Main Centre' 
within the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (NDTLP) and therefore Policy ST06 is 
relevant. The Spatial Planning Vision is for the settlements of Northam, Westward Ho! and Appledore 
to continue to act as local service centres, providing for a range of community needs and delivering 
housing to meet locally generated needs. In accommodating growth within Appledore, for housing and 
other uses, the historic character of the village will be protected and where possible enhanced by 
development that is sympathetic to its character. 
 
The application site relates to the demolition of an existing residential dwelling and the erection of a 
new dwelling on a site which is located within the development boundary of the settlement and within 
a predominantly residential area. It is near all services and facilities needed to support residential use 
and therefore in accordance with Policies ST06 and NOR, subject to other policy considerations. 
 
A material planning consideration to be noted is the planning permission dated 21st December 2016, 
(planning reference 1/0884/2016/FUL) is still extant, and relates to a larger site, including this site, 
and permitted the demolition of two dwellings and erection for six four storey houses arranged in three 
blocks of two, with balconies facing out in a north easterly direction, (facing the road). The applicant is 
still able to commence these applications, and this must be given due consideration as a "fall back" 
scenario. 
 
2. Design and appearance 
Policies DM04: 'Design Principles' and ST04: 'Improving the Quality of Development' in the Local Plan 
aim to ensure good quality design. 
 
Policy DM04 seeks to guide overall scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials 
access and appearance of development. The policy requires development to be appropriate and 
sympathetic to its setting in terms of scale, density, massing, height, layout appearance, fenestration, 

Page 32



materials and relationship to buildings and landscape features in the local neighbourhood. Policy 
ST04 states 'design will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the 
characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding area taking full account of the 
principles of design found in DM04.' In addition, Policy DM08A 'Landscape and Seascape Character' 
of the Local Plan states that 'Development should be of an appropriate scale, mass and design that 
recognises and respects landscape character of both designated and undesignated landscapes.' 
 
The NPPF, (specifically Part 12), attaches great importance to the design of the built environment and 
states that developments are sympathetic to local character, including the surrounding built 
environment, and permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the 
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. 
 
There are a mix of dwelling types in the local neighbourhood, from bungalows to two storeys, 
detached and terraced. The roofs are mostly pitched, but with differing gradients, some also hipped 
and some with dormers. There are also flat roofs in the area, including single storey attached and 
detached garages, porches and larger buildings. It is considered that the 'box' style design would not 
be out of keeping with other large detached dwellings in the area. 
 
There is also a vast range of different building materials in the area and window shapes and sizes 
(fenestration) also differ widely. Given that the proposed design is proposing quality materials which 
matches the modern design approach, it is considered that the proposed materials are considered 
acceptable and not out of keeping with the locality.  
 
In terms of scale, the proposed dwelling is approximately four metres further out than the existing 
bungalow, to the rear (south west), 1.1 metres higher, three metres further out at the side (north 
west), and less than one metre further out at the front.  
 
The depth of the proposed replacement dwelling is approximately seven metres, and the width 
approximately 13.5 metres, (although the projecting front part measures approximately 10 metres in 
width). The footprint of the neighbouring property, 'Westbrook' measures approximately 10 metres in 
width, (13 metres with the single storey garage), by 9 metres in depth, and is of a similar scale to that 
of the proposed. The neighbouring property 'High Tides' is 7.7 metres in depth and projects further 
forward than the proposed dwelling. Given the height, style and size of the adjacent properties, the 
proposed replacement is seen as appropriate and sympathetic. 
 
The NPPF, (specifically Paragraph 131), states that 'In determining applications, great weight should 
be given to outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability, or help raise 
the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit with the overall form and layout of 
their surroundings.' It is considered that the replacement dwelling will bring both high levels of 
sustainability and help to raise the standard of design, in comparison to the existing bungalow. 
 
There were initial concerns about the impact on the street scene of the expanse of blank rendered 
wall on the western side, (and with no windows), which was stark. The architect has amended the 
design of the dwelling, and the revised plans pull in the southwest corner, (and the decking does not 
extend into the rear garden as much) and has reduced the north west elevation to 5.3 metres, rather 
than 6.8 metres. The architect has also provided perspectives of the street view to show the 
appearance of the dwelling in the street scene and this has helped to conclude that the proposed 
dwelling is considered visually acceptable. 
 
The proposed design also sets the dwelling back from the road, and along with the subservient 
section on the north west side, it is considered that this will create a development which is considered 
to be appropriate and sympathetic to its setting in terms of scale, massing, appearance and 
relationship to buildings and landscape features in the local neighbourhood. 
 
Conditions are recommended removing 'permitted development' rights in respect of extensions and 
roof additions/alterations and outbuildings in order to safeguard the design and character of the 
development scheme and to avoid unacceptable detriment to visual amenity. 
 

Page 33



In conclusion, the proposed development is considered to be in keeping with the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area and would be seen in context with the surrounding landscape, 
and accords with Policies DM04: 'Design Principles,' ST04: 'Improving the Quality of Development,' 
and DM08A 'Landscape and Seascape Character' in the Local Plan, and the NPPF. 
 
3. Impact on designated heritage assets 
The proposal involves demolition of a dwelling and the erection of a new dwelling that is 
approximately 45 metres from curtilages of Grade II listed structures. In addition, the site lies in 
proximity to the Conservation Area.  
 
Policy ST15: ‘Conserving Heritage Assets’ of the Local Plan aims to preserve and enhance northern 
Devon's historic environment, and Policy DM07 supports proposals which conserve and enhance 
heritage assets and their settings. 
 
The NPPF, (specifically Part 16), states that 'Local Planning Authorities should identify and assess 
the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by 
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and 
any necessary expertise.' 
 
There are existing planning permissions on the current application site, (where similar proposals were 
considered acceptable - 'three storeys above road level, partially clad with weatherboarding and with 
large openings and elements of balconies'), and it was considered that the proposed development 
would cause no harm to the setting of the listed buildings and would have a neutral impact on the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. No comments have been received from the 
Conservation Officer despite being consulted.  
 
In terms of design the new proposals are clearly contemporary and use modern materials. The use of 
high-quality materials is supported. The proposal is considered acceptable in terms of both Policies 
ST15 and DM07 of the Local Plan and the NPPF. 
 
4. Residential amenity 
In the Local Plan Policy DM01: Amenity Considerations in the emerging plan supports development 
where it would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses. Policy 
DM04: Design principles has a principle regarding amenity. 
 
The existing property has its primary outlook towards the river, in a north easterly direction with 
dormer windows at first floor level. The proposal would result in its primary outlook in the same 
direction as the existing bungalow. 
 
The proposed balcony to the north easterly elevation would provide views over the estuary and 
oblique views of the neighbouring properties' front gardens/parking areas. As the proposed balcony is 
of a similar height to the existing bungalow's dormer windows, it is considered; on balance, that the 
extent of overlooking would be acceptable due to these factors.  
 
Given the Local Planning Authority has already determined the relationship of the new dwellings with 
the neighbours as part of the extant planning approval, (1/0884/2016/FUL), it seems wholly 
unreasonable to now consider this matter to be such to warrant refusal of planning permission. The 
Local Planning Authority deems the balconies to be acceptable. 
 
There have been objections from both adjacent neighbouring properties.  
 
In terms of the relationship with the proposed dwelling and the neighbouring property to the west 
'Westbrook,' no windows are proposed on the first floor north west elevation. The distance to the 
boundary is approximately 1.3 metres but is approximately four metres from the edge of the attached 
garage, which has no habitable rooms/windows and the main first floor window on this elevation of 
'Westbrook' is obscured and both windows appear to not be main habitable rooms. There is also a 
conservatory here. Given the distance, layout of the buildings and the windows, the north western 
elevation of the proposed is not considered to be overbearing on the neighbouring occupants. 

Page 34



 
The proposed decking at the rear initially raised concerns about the opportunity for overlooking into 
the private amenity area of 'Westbrook.' However, the plans have been revised to draw the decking 
back, and to propose the erection of a 1.8 metre privacy screen. The two-metre-high fence has been 
added to the plans, although this can be erected using 'Permitted Development rights.' The proposed 
1.8 metre privacy screen overcomes the concerns about direct overlooking from a first floor level, 
although the private amenity area for 'Westbrook' is approximately 15 metres away to the further side 
(west) from the proposed dwelling and this is considered adequate for the occupants of 'Westbrook' to 
have an area of private amenity space. The fence and decking are to the rear of the property and are 
not considered to have an impact on the street scene. There is no planning history for the garden 
room within the garden of 'Westbrook,' although it may be immune from enforcement. 
 
Due to the nature of the sloping rear gardens, the location provides the opportunity for overlooking 
across the gardens, and the occupants of all residential properties are to some extent overlooking 
each other. The ‘garden room’ currently within the garden of 'Westbrook,' allows overlooking. The 
level of overlooking cannot be wholly prevented by a two-metre-high fence. It is advised that the 
residents to agree on a suitable 'visually appealing' boundary treatment. 
 
This existing arrangement, coupled with the urban location of the site and the minimal degree of 
overlooking that will be enabled by the proposed development, leads to the conclusion that the 
development would not result in significant harm to the amenities of the occupiers of the surrounding 
properties by reason of overlooking. 
 
In terms of the impact on views, from the proposed north western elevation, 1.8 metre privacy screen 
and/or fence, there is no 'right to a view,' and this cannot be protected by planning law. It is 
considered that the privacy screen and north west elevation will not have a detrimental impact on the 
street scene, (as in section above). As stated above, a two-metre-high fence can be erected on a 
boundary such as this without planning permission. The ownership of the fence is a civil matter and 
not a subject for consideration in this planning application. 
 
In terms of the impact on the neighbouring property 'High Tides' to the south east, side windows are 
proposed on the south east elevation of the replacement dwelling. Following a site visit to the rear 
garden of 'High Tides' the plans have been revised to show the first-floor window as obscured. A 
privacy screen has also been added on the timber decking. There are no windows proposed on the 
elevation facing the side elevation of 'High Tides' and the front of the proposed dwelling does not 
obscure or allow overlooking into the first-floor side window of 'High Tides.' 
 
The impacts of the proposed development are not considered to be significantly detrimental to visual 
or residential amenity and would be suitably designed for the intended purposes. The scale and 
location of the proposed development are such that there would be no significant adverse impact on 
the amenities of occupiers of nearby dwellings in terms of visual intrusion, overlooking, loss of 
privacy, dominance, overshadowing, loss of daylight or sunlight.  
 
A condition is recommended removing permitted development, which will ensure that no new 
openings are installed or inserted into the side elevations of the new dwelling without the prior 
permission of the Local Planning Authority in order to safeguard residential amenity. 
 
In terms of private amenity space for the application property, it is acknowledged that the raised level 
at first floor will allow easier access into the garden, and the privacy screen will protect the occupant’s 
privacy. Being within a 'Main Centre,' the future occupants of the property will have easy access to the 
extensive facilities of Appledore and the surrounding area, so it is considered that the property does 
not need a particularly large garden. 
 
The proposal would not impact on residential amenity and would accord with Policies DM01 and 
DM04 of the Local Plan. 
 
5. Access, Parking and Highway issues 

Page 35



Policy DM05: 'Highways' in the Local Plan requires development to have safe and well-designed 
vehicular access and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and 
accessibility of all highway users including cyclists and pedestrians, and all development shall protect 
and enhance existing public rights of way, footways, cycleways and bridleways and facilitate 
improvements to existing or provide new connections to these routes where practical to do so. Policy 
DM06: 'Parking Provision,' states that proposals will be expected to provide an appropriate scale and 
range of parking provision to meet anticipated needs. 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual 
cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
There are no changes to the existing access and/or parking. 
 
Devon County Council Highways have no objections. 
 
Concerns have been raised regarding the disturbance and possible noise and/or traffic impacts from 
construction. Unfortunately, building works do cause disturbance and change but it is normally short 
lived and acceptable. A condition has been applied to ensure that the existing residential amenity is 
not adversely affected by construction works (including deliveries). 
 
The proposal therefore accords with Policies DM05 and DM06 of the Local Plan and the NPPF. 
 
6. Structural Integrity 
Building Regulation approval would be required for the new dwelling, which would ensure the 
proposal is constructed safely and would not impact on adjacent properties. Any developer also has a 
duty of care during the construction period. The proposal does not involve significant excavation 
and/or a new retaining wall at the front and therefore it is considered there will be no detrimental 
impact on parking spaces at road level. 
 
7. Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further 
reinforced within the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan through policies DM08 and ST14. 
 
The proposal does trigger the need for a wildlife report, and a 'Protected Species Survey' (June 2020) 
by Richard Green ecology, has been submitted with the planning application. The results were that 
'No bats or signs of bats were found' and 'There were no obvious access points into the roof of the 
buildings; roof tiles and lead work' and 'No signs of nesting birds were found in or around the building.'  
 
The report recommends 'integrated bat roosting provision, e.g. Build-in Woodstone Bat Box (or 
similar), be provided' and 'integrated bird nesting provision, e.g. swift bricks.' Such features would 
enhance the potential ecological value of the site,' which would accord with Policy DM08 which aims 
to enhance biodiversity where possible. Conditions will be attached to ensure that this is followed. 
 
It is considered that, as there are no signs of wildlife or potential access, it is unlikely that any 
protected species will be harmed by the development or any habitat lost. As such, considering Natural 
England standing advice on protected species, no further survey work or mitigation strategies are 
necessary. Informatives relating to bats and nesting birds will be included on the decision notice. 
 
The proposal therefore accords with Policies DM08 and ST14 of the Local Plan. 
 
8. Sewerage and Drainage 
The site is not within a Critical Drainage Area.  
 

Page 36



The surface water and foul water will be disposed of through the main sewer. Therefore, no further 
surface water will be directed to the existing street surface water drain or soakaway, which could 
cause further problems for the neighbours. 
 
The proposal would therefore accord with Policy ST03 and DM02 of the Local Plan. 
 
Conclusion 
It is concluded that the principle of development is acceptable for the reasons stated above. The 
development would not have a detrimental impact on the character of the area, and or be out of 
keeping with surrounding dwellings, and the proposal would introduce a development that would be 
not be harmful to the current and future occupiers. There are no highway, parking / access issues. 
There is no harm on protected species and/or drainage issues, and the proposed development 
therefore accords with policies ST06, NOR, DM04, ST04, DM08A, ST15, DM07, DM01, DM05, DM06, 
ST03, DM02, DM08 and ST14 of the Local Plan and the NPPF. For the reasons given the 
recommendation for this application is for it to be approved with the conditions below. 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 
Recommendation 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions: - 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
   
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3         Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) no development of the types described in Schedule 2, Part 1 other than 
that hereby permitted, shall be carried out without the further grant of planning permission. 

                       
           Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise control over development which 

could materially harm the character and visual amenities of the development and locality and 
to safeguard residential amenity. 

 
 4         The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out, (including the delivery of 

construction materials), during Monday to Friday between the hours of 07:00 to 19:00 and 
Saturday between the hours of 08:00 to 13:00 with no works, (or the delivery of construction 
materials) being carried out on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

 

Page 37



 5         Within a period of six months from the commencement of development, one bird and one bat 
box shall be installed on the site, at least 2.5 metres high and away from strong light and 
disturbance. One installed, the bird and bat boxes shall thereafter be retained as such. 

                       
           Reason: To ensure net gains in biodiversity in accordance with policies DM08 and ST14 of the 

NDTLP. 
 
 6         Prior to occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, the first floor window on the south 

eastern elevation, shown on the approved plan, (drawing numbered 1141 - 31 K), shall be 
obscure glazed using a minimum of Pilkington level 3 obscure glazing or equivalent, and shall 
be retained as such thereafter. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that private amenity is retained for the adjacent neighbouring property, in 

accordance with Policy DM01 of the adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-
2031. 

 
 7         Prior to occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, the privacy screens, shown on the 

approved plan, (drawing numbered 1141 - 31 K), shall be erected and shall be retained as 
such thereafter. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that private amenity is retained for the adjacent neighbouring properties, in 

accordance with Policy DM01 of the adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-
2031. 

 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

  

1141-01-A  03.07.2020 
     

1141-05-H  18.09.2020 
   

1141-11-H  18.09.2020 
   

1141-10-H  18.09.2020 
     

1141-30-K  30.09.2020 
   

1141-31-K  30.09.2020 
        

 
Informatives 
 
01. BATS 
 If any bats or evidence of bats are found before or during building work, you must immediately 

stop all work and contact English Nature for further advice. This is a legal requirement under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and further protection is given by 
Regulation 39(1) of the Conservation (Natural Habitats &c.) Regulations 1994. This applies to 
whoever carries out the work. All contractors on site should be made aware of this 
requirement and given the relevant contact number for Natural England, which can be 
obtained from the Bat Conservation Trust. 

 
02. BIRDS  
 It is an offence under Part 1 Section 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) 

to intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while it is in use or being built. 
It is also an offence under Part 1 Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as 
amended by the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, to intentionally or recklessly disturb 
the active nests of certain rare birds (those on Schedule 1). It is strongly recommended that 
the tree or trees on which consent for work has been given is/are checked for nesting birds 
prior to work beginning. It is important to include checks on tree holes or decay hollows as 
some birds (eg, woodpeckers) nest in tree cavities. Trees heavily infested with Ivy can also 
provide possible nest sites. Hedges and scrub are commonly used for nesting sites by birds 
and therefore it is recommended that, where inspection of trees is obscured by such 

Page 38



vegetation or where such vegetation would be directly affected by the proposed work on trees 
(ie, removed for access to the trees), work is scheduled for outside the nesting season (which 
for most species is March to August inclusive). For further advice, please contact the RSPB 
South West England office on 01392 432691. 

 
Statement of Engagement 
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was a need for further engagement due to the potential impact on 
neighbouring properties and the architect has resolved these concerns by revising the plans. In such 
ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems 
arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 39



 
 

APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY 
Committee 5 November 2020 

 
 

Appeal decisions for the period 18.09.2020 – 22.10.2020 
Application No. 
 
1/0767/2019/FUL 

Address/Proposal 
 
High Bullen Garage 
High Bullen 
 
Extension to garage workshop and conversion of 
former workshop to form dwelling. 

Appeal 
Decision 
 
Allowed 

Officer 
Recommendation 
 
Refusal 

Committee/ 
Delegated 
 
Delegated 

Costs 
 
 
None 

 
1/0770/2019/OUTM 

 
Land To The East Of Galway 
Stibb Cross 
 
Outline application for up to 10 new dwellings, with 
all matters reserved except for access (re 
submission of 1/0910/2018/OUTM). 

 
Dismissed 

 
Refusal 

 
Delegated 

 
None 

 
1/0609/2019/CPL 

 
Highford Farm 
Higher Clovelly 
 
Certificate of proposed lawful use for donkey rides 
being ancillary to a mixed used for agriculture and 
the keeping of donkeys 

 
Dismissed 

 
Refusal 

 
Delegated 

 
Refused 

 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 9



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 8 September 2020 

by M Bale  BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 25 September 2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/20/3249831 

High Bullen Garage, High Bullen, St. Giles, Torrington, Devon EX38 7JA 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by David Summers against the decision of Torridge District Council. 

• The application Ref 1/0767/2019/FUL, dated 9 August 2019, was refused by notice 
dated 7 November 2019. 

• The development proposed is extension to garage workshop and conversion of former 
workshop to form live and work unit with garage. 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for extension to 

garage workshop and conversion of former workshop to form live and work unit 

with garage at High Bullen Garage, High Bullen, St. Giles, Torrington, Devon 
EX38 7JA in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 

1/0767/2019/FUL, dated 9 August 2019, subject to the conditions in the 

attached schedule. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues are whether the development is in an appropriate location in 

respect of local and national planning policies; and the effect of the proposal on 
the living conditions of future occupiers of the site.  

Reasons 

Location 

3. Policy ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (LP) sets 

out a spatial development strategy for northern Devon’s rural area. It indicates 
that in the countryside, outside certain listed settlements that are either 

defined in the LP or have a prescribed service or community facility, 

development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic 

and social needs, rural building reuse and development which is necessarily 
restricted to a countryside location.  

4. LP Policy DM27 sets out specific criteria relating to the re-use of rural buildings. 

These include that the proposal would not harm any intrinsic qualities and 

historic interest of the building and that development can be achieved without 

significant external alteration, extension or substantive rebuilding. The extent 
of new building work that would be required in this case is not clear. Moreover, 

the opening line of the Policy indicates that it gives support to ‘redundant’ and 

‘disused’ rural buildings.  

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3249831 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. When the Council’s officer visited the site in connection with the application, 

the part of the building proposed for conversion contained a significant amount 

of stored items. When I visited, the area was empty. Both visits, however, 
were a snapshot in time and are inconclusive as to overall activity within the 

building. I acknowledge the appellant’s evidence that disused items were 

collected from the site shortly after the visit, but this does not demonstrate 

that all the items that the Council’s officer saw were collected at that time, or 
that, at other times the area is not required by the business for similar storage 

activities. The evidence is, therefore, inconclusive as to whether the building is 

redundant.  

6. Overall, I find the submitted evidence insufficient to demonstrate compliance 

with Policy DM27. As this sets guiding principles for rural building re-use, I find 
a consequential conflict with Policy ST07, as it is not otherwise a proposal that 

would be supported in this location.   

7. Against this, Paragraphs 78 and 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(the Framework) also relate to rural housing development. The site is 

surrounded by other development and, whilst the works would not preserve the 
historic garage appearance of the building, they would not harm the character 

and appearance of the countryside and cannot be considered isolated within 

the meaning of Paragraph 79. Therefore, the exceptions listed in Paragraph 79 
do not fall to be considered.  

8. Paragraph 78 indicates that planning policies should identify opportunities for 

villages to grow and thrive and that, where there are groups of smaller 

settlements, development in one village may support services in a village 

nearby. Thus, despite the lack of services in High Bullen itself, I find no conflict 
with this part of the Framework. I shall return to this balance of considerations 

later in my decision.  

Living conditions 

9. The proposed dwelling would be physically attached to the working garage 

business. There is no substantive evidence that transmission of noise could be 

avoided. However, the development is proposed as a live/work unit and the 

appellant proposes an occupancy condition such that the dwelling could only be 
occupied by the owner of the garage.  

10. I understand that there is no demonstrable need for the garage business to 

have a dwelling attached and that occupancy conditions are usually used when 

such needs arise. However, there is no clear reason before me that occupancy 

conditions could not also be used for other purposes, such as protecting living 
conditions.  

11. In this case, restricting occupation along the lines proposed by the appellant 

would give the occupier full control over any noisy activities and so prevent 

harm to living conditions. There would, therefore, be no conflict with LP Policy 

DM1, or those parts of the Framework, that seek to prevent harm to future 
occupiers from existing uses. In the absence of harm there is no demonstrable 

likelihood of restrictions being placed upon the existing business as a 

consequence of the development.  
  

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3249831 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Other matters 

12. The garage is served by two vehicular entrances. From my own observations, 

there would be adequate space to park and turn on the forecourt area for both 

uses, whether or not there was any formal subdivision. Therefore, there would 

be no harm to highway safety and no conflict with LP Policy DM05 which seeks 
to ensure that all development has safe and well-designed vehicular access, 

egress and parking.  

13. The Council’s officer report indicates that the proposal would cause no harm to 

the setting of nearby listed buildings. Given that the changes of appearance 

would be within the envelope of the existing building and not alter sight lines 
across the site frontage, I see no reason to disagree.  

Planning balance 

14. The Council has indicated that it cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
deliverable housing land and that paragraph 11(d) of the Framework is 

engaged. This indicates that permission should be granted unless any adverse 

impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole.  

15. I have found no conflict with the policies of the Framework. With appropriate 

occupancy conditions, any harm to would not outweigh the benefits associated 

with the provision of additional housing, well related to an existing group of 

dwellings. Therefore, the proposal benefits from the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development outlined at paragraph 11 of the Framework. As 

Government policy, this is a material consideration of substantial weight. 

16. I am not satisfied that this proposal complies with the detailed criteria of LP 

Policy DM27. However, LP paragraph 13.144 explains that a fundamental 

principle underpinning the policy is protection of the rural character. As the 
site’s context means there would be no harm in this regard there would be no 

conflict with those policy aims. Nevertheless, there is a consequential conflict 

with Policy ST07 and, therefore, with the development plan taken as a whole.  

17. Given the shortfall in housing land supply, I attach only limited weight to the 

conflict with those aims of the development plan that seek to control the 
location of development. This extends to those aspects of Policy DM27 that 

seek to prevent significant rebuilding, helping to control newly built 

development in the countryside. Material considerations, therefore, indicate a 
decision otherwise than in accordance with the development plan.  

Conditions 

18. A plans condition is required in the interests of certainty. An occupancy 

condition is necessary to protect the living conditions of future occupiers, which 
I have based upon the example in an alternative permission provided to me by 

the appellant. However, I have removed reference to a widow or widower as 

that could allow the garage business to continue operating whilst causing harm 
to living conditions of residents unconnected with it. Given the history of 

previous uses, a condition is necessary to investigate and remediate any 

contamination.  
  

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3249831 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

Conclusion 

19. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.  

M Bale 

INSPECTOR  

 

 

Schedule 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 

from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: Existing Block Plan (Sheet 1 of 9) 

Issue 2; Proposed Block Plan (Sheet 1b of 9) Issue 2; Proposed Ground 

Floor Plan (Residential Portion) (Sheet 2 of 9) Issue 1; Existing Ground 
Floor Plan (Sheet 2b of 9) Issue 1; Proposed First Floor Plan (Residential 

Portion) (Sheet 3 of 9) Issue 1; Proposed Extension to Workshop (Sheet 

4 of 9) Issue 1; Existing and Proposed Front Elevation (Sheet 5 of 9) 

Issue 1; Existing and Proposed Rear Elevation (Sheet 6 of 9) Issue 1; 
Existing and Proposed LH Side (East) Elevation (Sheet 7 of 9) Issue 1; 

Existing and Proposed RH Side Elevation (Sheet 8 of 9); Specification 

(Sheet 9 of 9); Site Identification Map. 

3) For as long as a business is operational in the adjoining garage building, 

the occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person solely or 

mainly working in that adjoining garage building, a spouse or civil partner 
of that person, and to any resident dependants. 

4) No development shall commence until an assessment of the risks posed 

by any contamination, carried out in accordance with British Standard BS 

10175: Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of Practice 
and the Environment Agency’s Model Procedures for the Management of 

Land Contamination (CLR 11) (or equivalent British Standard and Model 

Procedures if replaced), shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

If any contamination is found, a report specifying the measures to be 

taken, including the timescale, to remediate the site to render it suitable 
for the approved development shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The site shall be remediated in 

accordance with the approved measures and timescale and a verification 

report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.   

If, during the course of development, any contamination is found which 

has not been previously identified, work shall be suspended and 
additional measures for its remediation shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation of 

the site shall incorporate the approved additional measures and a 

verification report for all the remediation works shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority within 7 days of the report being completed and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 8 September 2020 

by M Bale  BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 13 October 2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/20/3249942 

Land on the east side of Galway, Stibb Cross, Devon EX38 8LH 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Graham Yeo against the decision of Torridge District Council. 

• The application Ref 1/0770/2019/OUTM, dated 15 August 2019, was refused by notice 
dated 9 October 2019. 

• The development proposed is up to 10 new dwellings.  
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Procedural matter 

2. The appeal relates to an application for outline planning permission. All matters 

are reserved except for access. Plans have been submitted which, with the 
exception of those parts depicting access, I have treated as illustrative.  

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are (i) the effect on highway safety; and (ii) whether the site 
is an appropriate location for the development, with regard to local and 

national planning policies.  

Reasons 

Highway Safety 

4. Stibb Cross is located at a junction of the A388 and B3227 around a cross 
roads outside the Union Inn (the cross roads). There is a high volume of traffic 

on the A388, including large vehicles. Leading away from the cross roads 

towards the site the A388 has no footway. In a narrow section, closest to the 

cross roads, there are limited refuges for pedestrians and limited forward 
visibility. Given the proximity to the junction, pedestrians would be particularly 

vulnerable here.  

5. There are few facilities in Stibb Cross, so residents would have limited reliance 

on walking as a means of accessing them. New bus stops, including for schools, 

could be provided at the site along with a footpath to the Union Inn. These 
factors would reduce the need for pedestrians to walk on the narrowest section 

of the A388.  

6. However, there is no substantive evidence that residents would not wish to 

leave their houses on foot for other reasons such as social visits to other parts 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3249942 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

of the village or recreation, including for dog walking and the like. Although 

many people may choose to sacrifice connectivity in favour of a rural lifestyle, 

residents of the site would not be able to leave their houses safely on foot 
other than for accessing the public house or new bus stops.  

7. The connectivity to the rest of the settlement would be similar to that for 

existing properties close to the site, accessed from this part of the A388. 

However these are only a small number of homes and the proposal would see a 

significant relative increase in people reliant on using the narrow section of the 
A388 to access the rest of the settlement on foot.  

8. Footway provision throughout Stibb Cross is limited, especially along the B3227 

where there are a large number of houses. However, there are more informal 

refuge opportunities on this road and forward visibility is generally better than 

the narrow part of the A388. I understand that 3 dwellings have been 
permitted to the west of the Union Inn, but access to these would involve 

walking on a different stretch of the A388 and so are not directly comparable.  

9. Therefore, I find that harm to highway safety would result. The provision of an 

adequate vehicular access and extension of the 30 mph speed limit would not 

mitigate the harm. Any new bus stops and footway would be available to those 

residents on the opposite side of the A388 which have rear accesses onto the 
road, but in the absence of substantive evidence as to the frequency that these 

accesses are used, I give this benefit limited weight. They would not off-set the 

harm that I have identified.  

10. For the above reasons, the development is contrary to those aims of Policies 

DM04 and DM05 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (LP) 
that seek to ensure that development provides a layout that sufficiently 

considers the needs and accessibility of all highway users, incorporating safe 

and well-integrated pedestrian facilities. It would also conflict with Paragraph 
108 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) which requires 

safe and suitable access to the site for all users. As the harm that I have 

identified is principally to pedestrians who would be highly vulnerable road 
users, I give this very substantial weight.  

Location 

11. LP Policy ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 sets out 

a spatial development strategy for Northern Devon’s rural area. At a number of 
villages, including Stibb Cross, the policy sets out that development will be 

enabled to meet local needs and growth aspirations. The site lies at the edge of 

Stibb Cross, and under Policy ST07, it is identified as countryside, where 
general housing is not permitted.  

12. Nevertheless, as the Council has confirmed that it can demonstrate only a 4.23 

year supply of deliverable housing land, an approach to delivering additional 

residential development outside defined settlement limits, enshrined in LP 

Policy ST21, should be applied.  

13. The LP allocates some land at Stibb Cross. Although that included brownfield 

land, it indicates that the location is appropriate for some further development. 
The resulting development would exceed proposed housing numbers at Stibb 

Cross, but it could help to support local facilities at Stibb Cross and nearby 

settlements, in accordance with the policies for rural housing in the Framework. 

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3249942 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

The amount of housing would not be so great as to prejudice the overall spatial 

vision and strategy for Northern Devon.  

14. However, while any landscape and visual impacts, and associated conflict with 

those aims of LP Policies DM04 and DM08A relating to landscape character, 

may be very limited, my findings in respect of highway safety indicate that the 
proposal is not acceptable in all other respects, as required by Policy ST21. The 

proposal, therefore, conflicts with Policy ST21, and the development plan read 

as a whole.  

Other matters 

15. The proposal would make a contribution to the delivery of housing, with the 

stated intention of including affordable housing. It may well be that the 

allocated site at Stibb Cross is likely to deliver fewer homes than the LP intends 
and there are no other realistic sites in Stibb Cross to make on-site affordable 

housing provision. Therefore, in the context of inadequate housing land supply, 

if there were an appropriate planning obligation in place, these benefits along 
with the other economic and social benefits associated with the delivery of 

housing, would receive substantial weight.  

16. Other contributions that could be provided in a planning obligation towards 

matters such as education and public open space, would serve to mitigate the 

effects of the development and so be neutral in the planning balance.  

Planning balance and conclusion  

17. As a consequence of the housing land supply position, the Framework, at 

paragraph 11(d) indicates that permission should be granted unless the 

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 

whole.  

18. For the reasons given, the adverse highway impacts in this case would 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits associated with the 

delivery of market and affordable housing in this location. Therefore, the 
proposal does not benefit from the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development set out at Framework paragraph 11.  

19. I have found that the proposal conflicts with the development plan. Material 

considerations do not outweigh this conflict.  

20. Therefore, the appeal is dismissed.   

M Bale 

INSPECTOR  

 

Page 47

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
by Jessica Graham  BA(Hons) PgDipL 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 6 October 2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/X/20/3250364 

Highford Farm, Higher Clovelly, Bideford, Devon EX39 5SA 

• The appeal is made under section 195 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 against a refusal to grant a 
certificate of lawful use or development (LDC). 

• The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs B and S Kelly against the decision of Torridge District 
Council. 

• The application Ref 1/0609/2019/CPL, dated 4 July 2019, was refused by an undated 

notice issued on or about 29 August 2019. 
• The application was made under section 192(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 as amended. 
• The use for which a LDC is sought is “use for donkey rides being ancillary to a mixed 

use for agriculture and the keeping of donkeys”. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural matters 

2. No site visit was made in this case as it was not necessary for me to inspect 

the property in order to determine the appeal. 

3. An application for costs was made by the Appellants against the Council. That 

application is the subject of a separate Decision Letter of even date. 

4. In order for a LDC to be granted under s.192 of the 1990 Act it is necessary for 
the Applicant to show, on the balance of probabilities, that the development 

would be lawful on the date of the application. In other words, the burden of 

proof rests with the Appellants. 

Main issue 

5. It is common ground that the planning unit here under consideration is the 

Appellants’ land at Highford Farm (“the appeal site”),1 and that the existing 

lawful use of this land is a mixed use of agriculture and the keeping of 
donkeys.2  The disagreement between the Council and the Appellants, and the 

main issue for this appeal, is whether the proposed use of the land for donkey 

rides would be ancillary to the existing lawful use, in which case it could be 
carried out without the need for any further grant of planning permission; or 

whether it would constitute a material change to the existing use, in which case 

it would amount to development, and could not lawfully be carried out unless a 

grant of planning permission were first obtained.  

 
1 As is shown edged red on the plan that accompanied the application  
2 As is certified by the LDC issued by the Council on 28 September 2018  

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/X/20/3250364 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Assessment 

6. The type and scale of activity which may ordinarily be regarded as ancillary to 

a particular primary use will be a matter of fact and degree. Similarly, the 

concept of “material change of use” is not defined in statute or statutory 

instrument; it is a question of fact and degree in each case. It is worth noting 
that the whole doctrine of primary and ancillary use has been developed by the 

courts as a response to the practical realities of planning control on the ground: 

by concentrating on the primary use, planning control permits fluctuation in the 
level and type of ancillary activity without the need to apply for permission. But 

the protection of ancillary uses remains only so long as the ancillary link is 

maintained. If an ancillary use alters or expands to a point where it is no longer 

subsidiary to the primary use of the planning unit, or where it brings about a 
significant difference in the character of the lawful use, then this is likely to 

amount to a material change of use.      

7. The Appellants have confirmed that to date, donkey riding at the appeal site 

has been limited to friends on a non-paying basis. I am satisfied that using 

donkeys stabled at the appeal site to provide rides on the premises to friends, 
on a non-paying basis, constitutes an ancillary use to “keeping donkeys”. 

Riding your donkeys, and allowing your friends to ride them, can reasonably be 

regarded as incidental to keeping them.  

8. The use proposed in the LDC application is the commercial provision of donkey 

rides at the appeal site, to individuals over the age of two, weighing a 
maximum of 60 kg. Rides of around 10 minute duration would be provided 

from 12 noon to 6pm, between 1 April and 30 September. The Appellants have 

explained that in order to give donkey rides to the paying public they would 
need to have a minimum of two donkeys available for rides and a maximum of 

six at peak times, although only four would be giving rides at any one time; the 

donkeys work a two-hour shift, then swap over to allow a rest period.    

9. In my judgment, this proposed use would clearly involve a change in the type 

and scale of existing donkey-riding activity at the appeal site. The question is 
whether the extent and nature of that change would amount to a change in the 

overall character of the existing use of the appeal site. 

10. One of the impacts of the proposed use would be an increase in the number of 

vehicles visiting the appeal site. There is no indication that the appeal site is 

readily accessible by public transport, so members of the public wishing to ride 
the donkeys would generally need to travel there by private car. The Statement 

of Case submitted by the Appellants provided information as to the number of 

visitors to the stables at Clovelly over the previous ten years, and on the basis 

of that information, concluded that the highest number of cars to be expected 
would be eight per hour.  

11. The Appellants anticipate that (a) lower numbers of visitors would visit the 

appeal site than visit Clovelly, and (b) those who do will “stop off” at the 

appeal site after visiting Clovelly, rather than make single purpose trips to the 

site. On the basis that Clovelly is a long-established and internationally 
renowned tourist attraction, I consider the first assumption a fair one. There is 

not, however, any evidence to support the second assumption. There is, for 

example, no information as to how visitors to Clovelly would be informed that 
donkey rides would be available at the appeal site, or whether they would be 

provided with any incentive to stop off there upon leaving Clovelly. Nor is there 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/X/20/3250364 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

any suggestion that donkey rides would be limited to visitors to Clovelly, rather 

than being available, and marketed as such, to the public at large.  

12. The evidence of the Appellants is that they could have four donkeys at a time 

providing rides of a maximum duration of 10 minutes. Allowing a few minutes 

for the change of riders, at busy periods this could equate to 16-20 rides per 
hour. I appreciate that some of the riders may be siblings or friends travelling 

in the same car, but there is clearly potential for considerably more vehicle 

movements to and from the appeal site than the maximum of eight cars per 
hour suggested by the Appellants.      

13. Further, it appears to be the case that the donkeys which would be used to 

provide rides at the appeal site would not be stabled there, but would be 

brought to and from the premises each day. The evidence on this is somewhat 

contradictory. The Appellants have explained that they currently have 14 
animals (two donkey stallions, ten donkeys and two mules) of which seven are 

licensed to provide rides to the public, and have been doing so at Clovelly. The 

statement submitted in support of the LDC application advised that “the 

donkeys are already being lawfully kept on the land”, and the Statement of 
Case submitted with the appeal advised that “at present, the donkeys are 

“kept” at the appeal site, but spend most of their days at the stables owned by 

the Clovelly Estate in the village close to the Visitor Centre.”  

14. However, in their comments on the statements made by the Council and 

interested parties, the Appellants advise that “At present, two donkey stallions 
are kept at the site… The proposal is to bring donkeys from Clovelly to the site 

to facilitate the donkey rides but they will continue to be stabled at Clovelly. 

The stallions can not be stabled with the others and there is… no proposal to 
build additional stables at the site.” It therefore seems to be the case that the 

proposal would involve transporting donkeys from Clovelly to the appeal site 

and back on each day that rides were to be provided, but no information has 

been submitted as to how (and how often) such movements currently take 
place, or whether the proposal would increase their frequency.  

15. There is, then, insufficient evidence to establish a robust estimate of how many 

additional vehicle movements would be generated by the proposed use, above 

and beyond those already taking place in connection with the current lawful 

use of the site; but on the basis of the Appellant’s own evidence, the increase 
is likely to be considerable. 

16. The donkey rides would be available to children and young adults, so it is likely 

that the riders would need to be driven to and from the appeal site by a parent 

or carer, who would then need to wait on site for the ride to finish. There is no 

indication that a shelter or other designated waiting area would be provided, so 
some of those waiting may choose to sit in their cars, possibly with heating / 

air conditioning running and the radio on; others may choose to wait outside in 

the yard, possibly talking and laughing among themselves.  

17. The Appellants have provided a plan showing 15 car parking spaces within the 

appeal site, but the layout is such that a considerable number of these spaces 
would not be accessible if cars were already parked in other nearby spaces. At 

busy times, then, parking on site would be likely to involve a great deal of 

manoeuvring, with potential for conflict between other visitors waiting on foot 
in the yard, or arriving and leaving in their vehicles.      

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/X/20/3250364 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

18. In the absence of any detailed information as to how the rides, and the 

movements of visitors and their cars, would be managed it is not possible to 

draw any firm conclusions as to the full extent of their impacts. Nevertheless it 
is evident that the presence of a substantial number of paying visitors on the 

appeal site, either riding donkeys, or standing around or sitting in cars waiting 

for rides to finish, would constitute a marked change from the current private 

nature of the land’s primary use for agriculture and the keeping of donkeys.  

19. Drawing all of this together, I find that such evidence as has been provided by 
the Appellants does not demonstrate that the proposed use would remain 

ancillary to the lawful use of keeping donkeys on the land. I appreciate that the 

commercial provision of donkey rides would only be undertaken for six months 

of the year. Nevertheless, on the basis of the information provided, during 
those six months it would generate a considerable increase in vehicle 

movements to and from the site, and the activities that would take place at the 

appeal site would be significantly different in character to those that currently 
take place in connection with the existing lawful primary and ancillary uses; 

this would, in my judgment, change the overall character of the use of the 

land.  

20. I conclude that the commercial provision of donkey rides at the appeal site on 

the basis described in the LDC application could not reasonably be regarded as 
ordinarily incidental to the keeping of donkeys, and would not be ancillary to 

the primary use of the appeal site. Rather, the proposal would amount to a 

material change of use, and so would require a grant of planning permission.      

21. For the reasons given above I conclude that the Council’s refusal to grant a 

certificate of lawful use or development in respect of the proposed “use for 
donkey rides ancillary to a mixed use for agriculture and the keeping of 

donkeys” was well-founded and that the appeal should fail. I will exercise 

accordingly the powers transferred to me in section 195(3) of the 1990 Act as 

amended. 

 

Jessica Graham 

INSPECTOR 

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Costs Decision 
by Jessica Graham  BA(Hons) PgDipL 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 6 October 2020 

 

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/X/20/3250364 

Highford Farm, Higher Clovelly, Bideford, Devon EX39 5SA 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 195, 
322 and Schedule 6 and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Mr and Mrs B and S Kelly for a full award of costs against 
Torridge District Council. 

• The appeal was against the refusal of the Council to issue a certificate of lawful use or 

development for “use for donkey rides being ancillary to a mixed use for agriculture and 
the keeping of donkeys”. 

 

 

Decision 

1. The application for an award of costs is refused. 

Reasons 

2. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises that costs may be awarded 

against a party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party 
applying for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal 

process. 

3. The PPG states that it is “best practice for the local planning authority to have 

constructive discussions with the applicants for an LDC and, if it has any 

concerns, give the applicant the opportunity to amend the application before it 
is decided.” The Applicants submit, at paragraph 1 of their costs application, 

that it was unreasonable for the Council not to have followed this best practice. 

They contend that had the Council raised its concerns about the impacts of 

traffic generation, parking demand and associated facilities before deciding the 
LDC, the additional material produced for the appeal could have been provided 

at application stage, potentially avoiding the need for the appeal. 

4. The short answer to this point is that even if I were to find that the Council did 

behave unreasonably in failing to raise its concerns before determining the 

application, it is clear that the additional material produced for the appeal 
would not have addressed those concerns. This is evident from the Council’s 

decision to continue defending its refusal of the application, even after the 

additional information had been submitted with the appeal. Earlier provision of 
this information would not, therefore, have avoided the need for the appeal. 

5. It is also worth noting, in this context, that in order for a LDC to be granted 

under s.192 of the 1990 Act it is necessary for the Applicant to show, on the 

balance of probabilities, that the development would be lawful on the date of 

the application. Paragraph 53 of the “Award of Costs” section of the PPG 
explains that in LDC appeals, the onus of proof on matters of fact is on the 

Page 52

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/W1145/X/20/3250364 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Appellant, not the local planning authority. The nature and extent of the 

evidence to be submitted in support of an application, or subsequent appeal, is 

therefore a matter for the Applicant. 

6. With that in mind, I do not consider that the Council applied an incorrect 

evidential test (paragraph 2 of the costs application), or behaved unreasonably 
in failing to seek advice from the local highway authority or environmental 

health officers (paragraph 3 of the costs application). The Council was entitled 

to form the view that such evidence as was submitted by the Applicants did not 
discharge the evidential burden of demonstrating that the proposal would, on 

the balance of probabilities, be ancillary to the existing lawful use. There was 

no requirement for, or obligation upon, the Council to seek further advice. 

7. For the same reason, I do not consider that the Council can fairly be criticised 

for having “relied on vague, generalised or inaccurate assertions about a 
proposal’s impact, which are unsupported by any objective analysis” 

(paragraph 4 of the costs application). The responsibility for providing an 

accurate assessment of the proposal’s impact lay with the Applicants. 

8. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or 

wasted expense, as described in the PPG, has not been demonstrated and so 

an award of costs is not justified. 

 

Jessica Graham 

INSPECTOR  

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

AGMB DECISIONS 18.09.2020 – 22.10.2020 
 

Application Number Address/Proposal Decision 
 

 
1/0354/2020/AGMB 

 
Ugworthy Barton, 
Chilsworthy, Holsworthy 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
building to 1no. 
dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under class Q 

 
Approved 

 
1/0580/2020/AGMB 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Barn At Grid Reference 
243578 101940, West Chilla, 
Devon 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under class Q 

 
Approved 

 
1/0624/2020/AGMB 

 
Nethercott Farm, 
Alverdiscott, Barnstaple 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under class Q 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Approved 

 
1/0747/2020/AGMB 

 
Berrington Farm, Ashwater, 
Beaworthy 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of agricultural 
building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under class Q 
 

 
Approved 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 11



Torridge District Council 

 Planning Decisions 

Between 18.09.2020 and 22.10.2020 

 
List of Applications 

 
Application 
No: 

Officer Proposal and Address Applicant Decision/Date 

 
PERMITTED 

 
1/0701/2018/
OUTM 

Helen 
Smith 

Outline application with all matters 
reserved except access for up to 34 
houses and associated engineering 
works - Land North Of Aller Road, 
Dolton, Devon. 

MJ Saltmarsh PER 
02.10.2020 

 
1/0841/2019/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Erection of single storey extension 
and internal alterations to annexe - 
Birchill Farm, Langtree, Torrington. 

Mrs Walker PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/0951/2019/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Proposed substation building - Land 
At Grid Reference 243177 125632, 
Clovelly Road, Bideford. 

TJL Uk Ltd PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/1002/2019/
OUTM 

Laura 
Davies 

Outline application for up to 16 no. 
dwellings with all matters reserved 
except access - Land To The North 
Of Box's Shop Farm, St Giles On 
The Heath, Devon. 

Mr Jeremy 
Edwards 

PER 
16.10.2020 

 
1/1182/2019/
FULM 

Kristian 
Evely 

Variation of Condition 2 of planning 
permission 1/0455/2017/FULM 
 - Fairlea Residential Home, South 
Lea, Northam. 

Fairlea House 
Ltd 

PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/0011/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed change of use for the 
siting of a holiday lodge caravan at 
Frankaborough Farm Holiday 
Cottages - Land At Frankaborough 
Farm , Broadwoodwidger, Lifton. 

Mr & Mrs 
Banbury 

PER 
25.09.2020 

 
1/0095/2020/
FULM 

Helen 
Smith 

Erection of 22 houses with 
associated infrastructure - Land To 
The North Of New Street, 
Torrington, Devon. 

Clayewater 
Homes Ltd 

PER 
22.09.2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 12



1/0313/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Replacement footpaths, creation of 
parking spaces, access ramps, 
access drives, walls, golf buggy 
shed and extension to golf 
machinery shed. - Hartland Forest 
Golf And Leisure Parc, Woolsery, 
Bideford. 

Alan Cartwright PER 
18.09.2020 

 
1/0340/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Conversion of 2 barns into domestic 
dwellings and associated site works 
- Woodtown Farm, Woodtown, East 
The Water. 

Messers 
Hedden 

PER 
25.09.2020 

 
1/0354/2020/
AGMB 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under class Q - 
Ugworthy Barton, Chilsworthy, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr. Bradley 
Tonkin 

PER 
18.09.2020 

 
1/0398/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Construction of 1no. Dwelling (Re-
submission of 1/0453/2019/FUL) - 
Bramber, Raleigh Hill, Bideford. 

Mr John Hare PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0407/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Conversion of barn to dwelling - 
Barn At Ricklea Cottage, Court 
Walk, Winkleigh. 

Mrs Rita Squire PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/0485/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Conversion of barn to dwelling - 
Barn At Grid Reference 263272 
108175, Court Walk, Winkleigh. 

Mrs Rita Squire PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/0421/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed collecting yard and scrape 
passage - Week House Farm, 
Winkleigh, Devon. 

Mr C Blake PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0422/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed herringbone parlour and 
cow handling area. - Week House 
Farm, Winkleigh, Devon. 

Mr C Blake PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0423/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed slurry storage lagoon - 
Week House Farm, Winkleigh, 
Devon. 

Mr C Blake PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0446/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Convert existing 4 bed terrace 
property into a 3 bed terrace and a 1 
bed terrace residential unit - 19 
Riverbank Cottages, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mr Paul 
Woolridge 

PER 
02.10.2020 

 
1/0448/2020/
FUL 

James 
Jackson 

Change of use of existing holiday 
accommodation approved under ref. 
1/1558/2004/FUL to 4 dwellings 
(Use class C3) - Cottages At Long 
Furlong , Hartland, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs J 
Cockrill 

PER 
22.09.2020 

 
 
 

Page 56



1/0453/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement windows - Pollards 
House, 18 Barnstaple Street, 
Bideford. 

Mr J Tolley PER 
24.09.2020 

 
1/0478/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Demolition of agricultural building 
and erection of domestic 
outbuilding/garage - The Old Dairy, 
West Putford, Holsworthy. 

Steven Brice PER 
19.10.2020 

 
1/0494/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed concrete slurry store and 
landscaping - Homelea Farm, 
Langtree, Torrington. 

Mr C Ley PER 
06.10.2020 

 
 
1/0502/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Replacement of conservatory with 
flat roof extension, formation of first 
floor extension, and lean-to - 24 
Bassetts Close, Northam, Bideford. 

Mr. Adrian 
Redwood 

PER 
01.10.2020 

 
1/0504/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Reserved matters application for 5 
dwellings, pursuant to outline 
application 1/0784/2016/OUT 
(Variation of condition 1 of planning 
permission 1/0634/2018/REM) 
(Amended plans to include Plots 1 & 
2) - Land To The West Of Tower 
Hill, Buckland Brewer, Devon. 

Grenco Ltd PER 
25.09.2020 

 
1/0505/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Outline application for 5 dwellings, 
including access and parking for 1 & 
2 Bell Cottages and 1 & 2 Tower Hill 
(Affecting Public Right of Way)- 
(Variation of condition 3 of planning 
permission 1/0784/2016/OUT 
(Amended plans to include Plots 1 & 
2) - Land To The West Of Tower 
Hill, Buckland Brewer, Devon. 

Grenco Ltd PER 
25.09.2020 

 
1/0506/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Conversion of barn to artists studio 
and holiday unit - Barn At Pillmouth, 
Landcross, Devon. 

Mrs Lucy Stock PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0507/2020/
LBC 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Conversion of barn to artists studio 
and holiday unit - Barn At Pillmouth, 
Landcross, Devon. 

Mrs Lucy Stock PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0515/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Removal of conservatory. Front and 
rear extensions with internal 
alterations. - Higher Wreland, 
Ashreigney, Chulmleigh. 

Timbertek Ltd PER 
24.09.2020 

 
1/0516/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Alterations to Grade II* building 
including opening of blocked 
doorways - Palmer House, New 
Street, Torrington. 

Mr Lee Zanelli PER 
18.09.2020 

 
 
 

Page 57



1/0519/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed conservatory - Halwill 
Manor Nursing Home, Halwill, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr Richard 
McSpadden 

PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0537/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Replacement farmhouse - East 
Stibb, Stibb Cross, Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs 
Tucker 

PER 
13.10.2020 

 
1/0538/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Erection of cabin for business use; 
selling bridal dresses. - Barn View, 
Littleham, Bideford. 

Vanessa 
Hutchinson 

PER 
21.10.2020 

 
1/0544/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Alterations and integrated two-
storey extension to the rear - The 
Waterside, 16 New Quay Street, 
Appledore. 

Mr & Mrs 
Hudson 

PER 
29.09.2020 

 
1/0546/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Retrospective planning application 
for the conversion of an outbuilding 
for overnight accommodation in 
association with The Old Smithy Inn 
- The Old Smithy, Welcombe, 
Bideford. 

Mr Morrough 
McHugh 

PER 
02.10.2020 

 
1/0550/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of two replacement 
dwellings - Church Town Farm, 
Fairy Cross, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Adams 

PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/0561/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Proposed conversion of redundant 
dwelling to 2 bedroom residential 
unit - Hollacombe Chapel, 
Hollocombe, Devon. 

Mr and Mrs S 
Chakrabarti 

PER 
15.10.2020 

 
1/0563/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed two storey extension, loft 
conversion and garage/summer 
room - 3 Gammaton Road, Bideford, 
Devon. 

Mr. Gary Ford PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/0565/2020/
FULM 

Helen 
Smith 

Change of use from mixed use 
Research and Development, 
Industrial Storage and Distribution 
(use classes B1abc, B2 and B8) to 
Leisure Business (use class E) for 
play area for children to include 
crazy golf, a bounce area, arcade 
games a cafe and seating areas. - 
Phase 8 , Caddsdown Industrial 
Park, Bideford. 

Caroline Sunley PER 
21.10.2020 

 
1/0573/2020/
FUH 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of a sun room (variation of 
condition 2 of planning permission 
1/0180/2020/FUL) - Soldon House, 
Sutcombe, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Reeves 

PER 
05.10.2020 

 
1/0577/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Proposed extension to annexe - 
Annexe, The Hollies, Clawton. 

Ms J Wise PER 
05.10.2020 

 
 

Page 58



1/0580/2020/
AGMB 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under class Q - 
Barn At Grid Reference 243578 
101940, West Chilla, Devon. 

Mr. B. Smithers PER 
19.10.2020 

 
1/0581/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Alterations to dwelling, demolition of 
additions, replacement of extension 
and new double garage - Park Villa, 
North Road, Holsworthy. 

Mr. Peter 
Prouse 

PER 
25.09.2020 

 
1/0584/2020/
CPL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Certificate of proposed lawful 
development for replacement of 
windows, 2 no. dormer windows, 3 
no. roof windows - Fernlea, 5 Lea 
Terrace, Appledore. 

Mr. Malcolm 
White 

PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0588/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed conversion of garage to 
annexe for dependent relatives - 
Trent, Old Barnstaple Road, 
Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Phillips 

PER 
28.09.2020 

 
1/0593/2020/
FUH 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Single storey extension to rear of 
dwelling - 40 Thornton Close, 
Bideford, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs A 
Rickman 

PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/0600/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Change of use of redundant farm 
building to a residential unit - 
Building At Pancrasweek, 
Holsworthy, Devon. 

Mr Paul 
Stenning 

PER 
25.09.2020 

 
1/0601/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Proposed straw bedded calf building 
- Furze Cottage, Ashreigney, 
Chulmleigh. 

Mr D Wooton PER 
07.10.2020 

 
1/0605/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Proposed new building for additional 
storage to existing business. - 
Buckland Filleigh Sawmills, 
Shebbear, Devon. 

Mike Wye & 
Associates Ltd 

PER 
21.10.2020 

 
1/0608/2020/
FUH 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Bay window extension - 23 The 
Willows, Chilsworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr & Mrs P 
Jones 

PER 
29.09.2020 

 
1/0611/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Roofing over existing cattle yard - 
Middlecroft Farm, Clawton, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr John 
Yelland 

PER 
01.10.2020 

 
1/0617/2020/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Single-storey rear extension to 
existing garage - Mitre Court, 
Winterland Lane, Holsworthy. 

Mr + Mrs 
Gardener 

PER 
02.10.2020 

 
1/0619/2020/
REM 

Kristian 
Evely 

Reserved matters application for 
access, appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale for 1 no. dwelling 
pursuant to application 
1/0377/2020/OUT - Lake House, 
Shebbear, Beaworthy. 

Mr & Mrs 
Roffey 

PER 
06.10.2020 

Page 59



 
1/0622/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Construction of store and workshop 
for use ancillary to the main 
dwelling. - 3 Galleon Way, 
Westward Ho!, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs Alan 
Waring 

PER 
22.09.2020 

 
1/0623/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Proposed stable block (affecting a 
public right of way) - Crabdown 
Farm, Ashreigney, Chulmleigh. 

Mr A Thorne PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0624/2020/
AGMB 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under class Q 
(affecting a public right of way) - 
Nethercott Farm, Alverdiscott, 
Barnstaple. 

Ray Auvray PER 
21.09.2020 

 
1/0625/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Conversion of redundant outbuilding 
to residential dwelling - Building 
Adjacent Stone Farm, 
Frithelstockstone, Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs 
Adrian 
Hardwick 

PER 
13.10.2020 

 
1/0626/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Variation of condition 3 (relating to 
fencing and planting) of planning 
permission 1/0293/2020/FUL - The 
Beeches, Buckland Brewer, 
Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs John 
Sherwin 

PER 
22.09.2020 

 
1/0627/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Conversion of redundant outbuilding 
to provide overspill accommodation 
to main dwelling - Stone Farm, 
Frithelstockstone, Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs 
Adrian 
Hardwick 

PER 
13.10.2020 

 
1/0633/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Extension to agricultural building - 
Lower Larkworthy, Ashwater, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr Ian Ellacott PER 
21.10.2020 

 
1/0634/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of agricultural building - 
Lower Larkworthy, Ashwater, 
Beaworthy. 

Mr Ian Ellacott PER 
21.10.2020 

 
1/0638/2020/
CPL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Certificate of proposed lawful 
development for the siting of mobile 
home to be used as ancillary to 
main dwelling - Little Stowford, 
Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

Mr and Mrs 
Bullock 

PER 
24.09.2020 

 
1/0640/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Extension and alterations - The 
Grange, Grange Road, Bideford. 

Mrs T Tinsley PER 
15.10.2020 

 
1/0645/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Ground and first floor extension and 
internal and external alterations - 
Little Orchard, First Raleigh, 
Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Harris-Hutchins 

PER 
09.10.2020 

 
 
 

Page 60



1/0647/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Change of use of office & 
warehouse into a dwelling with 
office alongside, with proposed 
coach house with granny annexe 
above - Canns Down Press, 
Beaford, Winkleigh. 

Impact for 
Change Ltd 

PER 
19.10.2020 

 
1/0651/2020/
FUH 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Installation of gable window and sun 
pipe - Green Pastures, Bucks 
Cross, Bideford. 

Mr And Mrs 
Wellfair 

PER 
22.09.2020 

 
1/0655/2020/
FUL 

Shaun 
Harringt
on 

Change of use of land from 
agricultural to equestrian and 
creation of sand school for private 
use - Crabdown Farm, Ashreigney, 
Chulmleigh. 

Mr A Thorne PER 
07.10.2020 

 
1/0662/2020/
FUH 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of conservatory - 20 The 
Greenwoods, Hartland, Bideford. 

Ms Karen 
Lennox 

PER 
30.09.2020 

 
1/0667/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of 1 holiday lodge 
(Variation of condition 2 of planning 
permission 1/0501/2016/FUL) - 
Forest Lakes, Woolsery, Devon. 

Mr Alan 
Cartwright 

PER 
01.10.2020 

 
1/0664/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Proposed new access to existing 
graveyard. - Land At Grinacombe 
Moor Cross, Broadwoodwidger, 
Devon. 

Mr P Parsons PER 
01.10.2020 

 
1/0668/2020/
NMAT 

Kristian 
Evely 

Non-material amendment to 
planning permission 
1/0629/2019/FUL - amendments to 
windows arrangements, addition of 
glazing into gable, change of roof 
lights. - Homemead, Diddywell 
Road, Northam. 

Mr and Mrs 
Lynd 

PER 
29.09.2020 

 
1/0672/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Proposed conversion of redundant 
agricultural barn to dwelling & 
associated works - Luckymoor, 
Yarnscombe, Barnstaple. 

Mr & Mrs Peter 
& Jane Kelly 

PER 
20.10.2020 

 
1/0678/2020/
TCA 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Elder (T1)- Remove due to rootplate 
failure, and being held up by 
adjacent tree - York Place, Northam 
Road, Bideford. 

Underwood 
Wright Ltd 

PER 
15.10.2020 

 
1/0682/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

2 Dwellings, detached garage and 
associated works - West Melville, 
Heywood Road, Northam. 

Mrs S Spratt PER 
07.10.2020 

 
1/0687/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed alterations and extension 
and addition of solar panels on roof 
(affecting a public right of way) - 
Myrtle Cottage, Beaford, Winkleigh. 

Mr. M. Murphy PER 
14.10.2020 

 
 

Page 61



1/0692/2020/
NMAT 

James 
Jackson 

Non-material amendment to 
1/1035/2017/FULM - Construction of 
bat roosting building - The Rectory, 
Abbotsham Road, Bideford. 

Stourport Care 
Ltd, C/o Care 
Concern Group 

PER 
08.10.2020 

 
1/0693/2020/
FUH 

Kristian 
Evely 

Raising of existing chimneys - 1 
Abbaton Cottages, Alverdiscott, 
Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs 
Whitting 

PER 
01.10.2020 

 
1/0694/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Proposed replacement of domestic 
garage - 45 Bay View Road, 
Northam, Bideford. 

Mr C Beer PER 
09.10.2020 

 
1/0698/2020/
FUH 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Proposed extensions and alterations 
to dwelling - Woodlands, Parkham, 
Bideford. 

Mr L Unwin And 
Ms J Powell 

PER 
09.10.2020 

 
1/0697/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Change of use of the 'Shop' from C3 
holiday let unit to C3 full-time 
residential unit and proposed 
addition of C3 holiday let in the 
'Shippon' - Berry Farm, Stoke, 
Bideford. 

Mr Ben Dossett PER 
16.10.2020 

 
1/0710/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Conversion of barns to 5 residential 
units (Variation of condition 2 of 
planning permission 
1/1104/2019/FUL) - Lodgeworthy 
Farm, Bridgerule, Holsworthy. 

Mr And Mrs D 
Hale 

PER 
16.10.2020 

 
1/0703/2020/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 1/1154/1989 - 
Change of description from 
'agricultural workers dwelling' to 
'dwellinghouse'. - Huddisford Lea, 
Woolsery, Bideford. 

Mr Edward 
Vanstone 

PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0714/2020/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Renewal of concrete yard in the 
farmyard under mid tier countryside 
stewardship water capital grant - 
Fernhill Farm, Clawton, Holsworthy. 

Mr Phil Allin PER 
21.09.2020 

 
1/0716/2020/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of agricultural building for 
storage of fodder and machinery - 
Neathwood Farm, 
Broadwoodwidger, Lifton. 

Mr Nigel Colwill PER 
21.09.2020 

 
1/0718/2020/
FUH 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Extension and alterations to 
dwelling - 45 Staddon Road, 
Appledore, Bideford. 

Miss Jess Allin PER 
14.10.2020 

 
1/0720/2020/
TCA 

Kristian 
Evely 

Works to an eucalyptus tree in front 
garden - limb reduction and 
crowning - 3 Church Close, Dolton, 
Winkleigh. 

Mr John 
Graham 

PER 
29.09.2020 

 
 
 

Page 62



1/0725/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

New double garage & replacement 
workshop - Ponderosa, Stibb Cross, 
Torrington. 

Miss H Wood & 
Mr M Facey 

PER 
21.10.2020 

 
1/0726/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Domestic store, gym and workshop 
building. - 32A Irsha Street, 
Appledore, Bideford. 

Mr Ben Boycott PER 
20.10.2020 

 
1/0727/2020/
LBC 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Domestic store, gym and workshop 
building. - 32A Irsha Street, 
Appledore, Bideford. 

Mr Ben Boycott PER 
19.10.2020 

 
1/0732/2020/
TCA 

Kristian 
Evely 

T4-Bay (and bay within G1)- reduce 
height and overhang on public 
footpath, T3-Cherry-Remove 
deadwood over public footpath, T5-
Robinia-coppice at 5ft to allow or 
regrow, T8(tag345)-Beech-Remove 
deadwood, T9-Sycamore-remove 
due to poor condition, Tag351-Ash-
poor vitality, dieback due to possible 
ash dieback-remove - The Rectory, 
Fore Street, Northam. 

Diocese Of 
Exeter 

PER 
01.10.2020 

 
1/0736/2020/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of an agricultural storage 
building - Land East Of Youldon 
Farm, Milton Damerel, Devon. 

Mr D Watkins PER 
23.09.2020 

 
1/0737/2020/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of agricultural storage 
building - Land At Mead, Welcombe, 
Bideford. 

Mr Stephen 
Metherel 

PER 
23.09.2020 

 
1/0747/2020/
AGMB 

Laura 
Davies 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under class Q - 
Berrington Farm, Ashwater, 
Beaworthy. 

Ms. Heather 
Blease 

PER 
13.10.2020 

 
1/0742/2020/
FUH 

Kristian 
Evely 

Ground floor extension with 
alterations to the roofline. - 3 Nilgala 
Close, Bideford, Devon. 

P Pyke PER 
15.10.2020 

 
1/0751/2020/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 1/0231/2020/FUL 
- alteration to colour of proposed 
wall cladding and roof finish. - Water 
Tower , Higher Clovelly, Devon. 

Mr R Hunt PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0770/2020/
AGR 

Laura 
Davies 

Erection of steel framed agricultural 
building - Land At Chapmans Well, 
Launceston, Devon. 

Mr Alistair Kirk PER 
06.10.2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



1/0772/2020/
NMAT 

Angelo 
Massos 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 1/1016/2018/FUL 
-  Alter windows/door to the rear 
extension and a 400mm overhang 
to the soffit (no increase in footprint 
or balcony) - 43 Goodwood Park 
Road, Northam, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs J 
Davies 

PER 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0800/2020/
NMAT 

Laura 
Davies 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 
1/0095/2018/FULM - Bin store and 
cycle store external access on 
ground floor of flats, alteration to 
garage doors on houses and 
updated site layout - Land At 
Newton Road, Bideford, Devon. 

Pearce 
Construction 
Ltd 

PER 
08.10.2020 

 
1/0842/2020/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of agricultural storage barn 
- Land  Rose Cottage, 
Broadwoodwidger, Lifton. 

Keith Woodard PER 
19.10.2020 

 
1/0834/2020/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Maintenance and extension to 
existing forestry track - Land At 
Higher Yapham Wood, Hartland, 
Devon. 

Stuart Brooking 
BSc 

PER 
19.10.2020 

 
1/0876/2020/
NMAT 

Kristian 
Evely 

Non Material Amendment to 
planning approval 1/0597/2019/FUL 
- alterations to window, door and 
roof light size/layout - 2 Hilliers, 
Dolton, Winkleigh. 

Mr Ralph Atton PER 
22.10.2020 

 

REFUSED 
1/0404/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Proposed conversion of barn into 
dwelling - Barns At Grid Reference 
240868 093460, Broadwoodwidger, 
Devon. 

Mr R Jordan REF 
20.10.2020 

 
1/0452/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Erection of dwelling - Land Adjacent 
To 96 Bay View Road, Northam, 
Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs J 
Stevenson 

REF 
06.10.2020 

 
1/0576/2020/
OUT 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Outline application for one dwelling 
with all matters reserved - Land 
Adjacent To Lake Farm, South 
Street, Sheepwash. 

Mr Frank 
Cheshire 

REF 
29.09.2020 

 
1/0673/2020/
CPE 

Laura 
Davies 

Residential usage of 2 no. mobile 
homes connected to create 1 no. 
family dwelling. - Lower Dexbeer 
Farm, Pancrasweek, Holsworthy. 

Paul Sillifant REF 
09.10.2020 

 
1/0699/2020/
PIP 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

 Construction of a single dwelling 
and associated works - Land South 
Of 1 North Town, Petrockstowe, 
Okehampton. 

Mr Grahame 
Phillips 

REF 
23.09.2020 

 
 Page 64



NOT PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT 
1/0764/2020/
AGR 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Roofing over existing livestock feed 
area and existing slurry store - 
Trentworthy Farm, Bradworthy, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr Andrew 
Melville 

NPD 
24.09.2020 

 

Page 65


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8a Application No 1/0542/2020/FUL
	8b Application No 1/0488/2020/FUL
	8c Application No 1/0566/2020/FUL
	9 Appeal Decisions Summary
	9A - Appeal Decision -3249831
	9B - Appeal Decision - 3249942
	9C - Appeal Decision 3250364

	10 Costs on Appeals
	11 Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications
	12 Planning Decisions

